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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

ALAN L. FITZGIBBON,   | 
Plaintifé ; | \ 

v. a . CIVIL ACTION 76-700 i CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE ‘ y 
AGENCY, et al., . ED 

« Defendants . FUL 
  OCT 2 $ 1976 

. 42S F. DAVEY, CLERK MEMORANDUM AND ORDER _—-JANES 7. DAVE MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 

Plaintiff in the above-entitled acticn brings 

suit challenging the refusal of the Central Intelligence 

Agency to waive the fees involved in searching for certain 

records which the plaintiff has Tequested pursuant to the 
Freedom of Information Act. On December 13, 1974, 

plaintiff, a journalist and historian, asked the Central 

Intelligence Agency:-to supply him with its records relating   to the abduction and murder of Jesus de Galindez by. 

agents of the Trujillo regime. Plaintif£ received no 

. xeply for nearly a year and on December 4, 1975, Plaintcifs 

appealed the Agency's failure to respond. On December 16, 

1975, the defendants answered that plaintiff would have 

to agree to pay an estimates fee of $448.00 before the 

  

Processing of plaintiff's claim could begin. Plaintifs 

appealed the requirement of search fee Payment and on 

February 27, 1976, the defendants denied this appeal. On 

April 22, 1976, plaintiff initiated this lawsuit, alleging 
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that the acts of the defendants in refusing to waive the 

imposition of search fees violated 5 U.S.C. §552(a) (4) (A). 

There are two matters before the Court at this 

stage of the litigation. The defendants have filed a 

Mction to Dismiss and the plaintiff has filed a Motion to 

Compel Answers to Certain Interrogatories asking about 

agency search fee practices. . For the reasons discussed 

below, this Court has reached the eonclusion that both 

motions must be denied. 

I. MOTION TO DISMISS 

In their Motion to Dismiss, the defendants 

" argue that this Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain the 

plaintiff's action. Defendants' argument is based upon 

claims that the plaintiff has failed to exhaust his 

administrative remedies, and that the agency refusal to waive 

fees is not reviewable under the Freedom of Information 

Act or the Administrative Procedure Act. 

The Court rejects these contentions. _The 

doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies requires 

resort to established procedural devices with the purpose 

‘ of avoiding premature interruption of the administrative 

process and of facilitating administrative review. Myers v. 

Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp., 303 U.S. 41 (1938); Sterling 

Drug Inc. v. Federal Trade Commission, 450 F.2d 698 (D.C. 

Cir. 1971). The plaintiff here has followed the procedural 

scheme set out in §552(a)(6) of the Freedom of Information 

Act. He requested that the agency waive its requirement 

of search fee payment, was denied that request, and appealed 
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that denial. That is all that the Law requires of him in 

this situation. 

In regard to the defendants' claim that actions 

concerning fee waiver are nonreviewable, this Court is 

satisfied that it has subject matter jurisdiction to hear 

plaintiff's suit. 5 U.S.C. §552(a) (4) (B) provides the. 

district courts with jurisdiction to order the production 

of any agency records improperly withheld from a 

complainant. — §552(a) (4) (B) review is available for a 

violation of any portion of the Freedom of Information 

Act, American Mail Line v. Gulick, 441 F.2d 696 (D.C. Cir. 

1969), and this review includes alleged violations of 

the search fee provisions of §552(a) (4) (A), Diapulse 

  

Corporation of America v. Food and Drug Administration of 

the Department of Health, Education and Welfare, 500 F.2d 75 

(2d cic. 1974) =! 

In their Motion to Dismiss, the defendants make 

a final argument that the plaintiff has failed to state a 

claim upon which relief can be granted because the 

defendants' actions here are neither arbitrary or capricious. 

The question whether the agency has abused its discretion 

and acted arbitrarily and capriciously in refusing to waive’ 

the search fee requirement involves factual issues which 

cannot be resolved adversely to the plaintiff on a motion 

to dismiss. Cruz v. Beto, 405 U.S. 319, 322 (1972). At 

this stage of the proceedings, this Court cannot say that 

the plaintiff could not prove a set of facts in support of - 

  

x/ Jurisdiction might also be based upon 5 U.S.C. §/02, 
which provides judicial review for those persons adversely 
affected by agency action. See Fellner v. Department of 

Justice, No. 75-C-430, Slip Op. (W.D. Wisc. April 
28, 1976). 
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his claim which would entitle him to the relief he 
desires. Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957). 
Thus, the Motion to Dismiss must be denied. 

II. MOTION To COMPEL DISCOVERY 

Plaintiff, in his Motion to Compel Discovery, 
seeks discousure from the defendants of all letters 
written to the agency subsequent to February 19, 1975,   requesting waiver of the fees involved in processing Free- 
dom of Information Act searches. Plaintiff also seeks 
disclosure of all agency letters granting or denying such 
requests. It is the opinion of this Court that the. 
discovery of this information is irrelevant to the issues 
before the Court in this lawsuit. 

The language of 5 UsS3Cx §552(a) (4) (A) controls 
the boundaries of relevancy here. The statute requires 

the agency to make a determination concerning fee waivers 
or fee reductions based upon its interpretation of where 
the public interest.lies, and that interpretation is 

grounded upon the agency's judgment in regard to whether 
furnishing the information can be considered as primarily 
benefitting the general public. This is a discretionary 
decision and any review of that decision must be conducted 
on a case-by-case basis, and must be confined to the 

Administrative Record upon which the decision was base. 
What the agency did in past cases does not matter under 
§552¢a) (4) (A). Thus the Motion to Compel Discovery must 
‘also be denied. , 

Accordingly, it is by the Court this a" say 

of October, 1976, 

 



nS 
LI
D 

A 
RS
 
LB

 
R
S
 
o
I
 

R
A
 

  

  
  

      

Ronen ta a 

  

  

  

a F = 

ORDERED, that Defendants' Motion to Dismiss 

be and it is hereby DENIED; and it is 

FURTHER ORDERED, that Plaintiff's Motion to 

Compel Discovery be and it is hereby DENIED. . 

   

   

      

  

xr f RoObinso i 
t JHdge deic ates Distric 

   

    

United A 

(ME, of DATE: _ 

    

    

  

  

   



  

  

Sa
da
t 

an
y,
   

     

  

    

  

Attachment 3 Civil Action No. 81-1206 

  

[ @ 7 eo 

cua 
FOX 

lnfartagtica (t Piles    
cone 

“idk fo Yi iy 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

  

ALAN L. FITZGIBBON, 7 6 

os Phaineiee 
veo eid CLVIL ACTION 76-709 

ore INTELLIGENCE AGENCY, ‘ a, . 
“9 é es 

- : : 3 Defendants " FI L BC 

JAi 4 © 1977 

MENORANDUMN AND ORDER _ANES paver, ch 

7 This matcer is before the Court on 

Plaintiff's and Defendants’ Crcoes-Motions for Sumnary 

Hasgmtin®, At issue is the decision by Defendant agency 

denying a waiver of the search fees involved in pacsepadng, 

Plaintiff's Freedom of Information Act request, in which 

Plaintiff seeks the Central Intelligence Agency records 

velating to the abduction in 1956 and murder of Jesus de 

Galindez by agents ‘of the Trujillo regime. 

" Although 5 U.S.C. §552(a) (4) (A) gives the 

agency broad discecision in regard to fee waivers, the agency's 

determination cannes be arbitrary and capricious. An agency's 

decision not to waive fees is arbitrary and capricious when 

there is nothing in’ the agency's refusal of Fee waiver whieh 

indicates that furnishing the informacion requested cannot 

be considered as primarily benefiting the general nublic, 
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Based upon the record developed in this 

case and upon the language employed by the agency in 

refusing 2 waiver of search fees, it is the opinion of 

this Court that the Defendant may have applied an 

inappropriate standard in reaching its decision to deny fee 

waiver, and that at the very least the Nefendants' decision 

is arbitrary and capricious. the implication evident fron 

Defendants’ Letter rejecting fee waiver is that the agency 

feels an obligation to the public to collect fees for , 

processing Freedom of Information Act requests. Any such 

perceived obligation is irrelevant to the purposes of 

§552(a) (4) (A). *. 

There has been no showing by the agency 

‘. . 2 %e 

here that the Galindez affair was not newsworthy and of 

public interest: at the time it first arose and there has 

been no cnowing by the agency that the Galindez affair does 

not continue.-to be of interest to the general public, . tn 

an historical sense at least. It is the judgment of this 

Court ‘that fyeni’shing information contained in CIA 

files regarding the abduction and murder of Jesus de 

Galindez can: be considered as primarily benefitting the 

general public. 

Dg . fam 
\ a Accordingly, it is this L day of 
\ : 

_ January, 1977, 

. "ORDERED, that Defendants’ Cross-Motions 

for Summary “Judgment be and it is hereby DENIED; and 

itis | : 
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FURTHER ORDERED, chat Plaintiffs’ Motion 

for Summary Judgment be and it is hereby GRANTED and 

that Defendants shall waive all fees invoived in 

processing Plaintiff's request under the Freedom of 

Information Act for all records in Defendants' possession 

relating to the Galindez case.   
UL, os J Libel 43 fetter OD) 

BREY 2. ROBINSON, JR, , 

UNITED’ STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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We 
Uo a MASST SCUAT 

._ FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN WEST. spear | 

PRIBW7E 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
    

  

  

  

MICHAEL LEE FELLNER, 

Plaintiff, 

ve OPINION 
. : : AND 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT ORDER 
OF JUSTICE, 

75-C-430 
Defendant. 

Plaintiff has renewed aw carlicr motion for an 

order requiring defendants to waive the costs of processing 

and. duplicating documents, the furnishing of which to plain- 

tif££ by defendant has been ordered by this court on December   17, 1975. Defendant opposes this motion. Defendant has 

noved to be relieved from furnishing any further documents 

as required by the December 17, 1975 order until plaintiff 

pays to defendant the unpaid balance of the search and copy 

fees generated to date, and defendant has moved for an order 

requiring plaintif£ to remit any appropriate future copy fees 

within 10 days of his receipt of further documents. 

This opinion and order are directed to these 

competing motions. 

For the purpose of deciding these motions, I 

find as fact those matters set forth below under the heading 

"Facts." 

  

Copy of this 
eatleatots th      

  

iy iE 

— Peputy Cloris | 
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* Pla ist who intends to pub 

and diasantnate the information which he_has_ obtained and may 

yee obtain from _— defendant pursuant to his request under 

the Freedom of Joforestine Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. § 552. His 

purpose in doing so is “to enlighten the public as to possible   
abuses of power by agencias of the federal gevexanent.” The 

records requested are those compiled by the Federal Bureau , 

of Investigation (FBI): regarding the political wecivicios, 

political involvements, political affiliations, and other 

activities of certain individuals who reside in the Madison, 

Wisconsin, area, or have resided there, or who may have en- ‘ 

gaged in activity there; regarding certain organizations , i 

which may have engaged in activity in the wadtaen arca; re- 

garding political activity that may have occurred in certain 

buildings in the Madison area; and regarding certain events 

that may have occurred in the Madison area. 

There has been considerable national news coverage 

and national public interest in the existence and ‘extent of 

possible political surveillance by the FBI in various parts 

of the country. There hes Seen considerable news coverage 

and public interest in the Madison area in possible FBI 

political gurveillance both locally and nationally, in 

this plaintiff's request for information from the defendant, 

and in this present law suit by this plaintiff to compel 

disclosure of the information requested. 
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- requested waiver of fees pursuant to § 552(a)(4)(A), stating 

  

    

In his attorney's initial March 25, 1975, letter 

of request for the information under the FOIA, plaintiff 

only that the purpose of his request for the information was 

"to evaluate potential local violation of civil liberties 
  

by federal investigatory agencies.” The waiver of fees was . 

denied by defendant. 
———————_———— TS   On about December 18, 1975, plaintiff subnitted 

a renewed request to the defendant for waiver of the fees, 

this time providing the defendant with affidavics ana a 

brief containing the matters which I have found as fact in 

the three preceding paragraphs of this opinion. On December 

26, 1975, defendant denied the renewed request for waiver 

of fees, with the following explanation by the Deputy Attor-= 

ney General: i 

The Department of Justice receives numerous 

requests for information — accompanied by 

requests for waivers of fees -- from media 

personnel and others who assert that their 
work will benefit the general public. If 

every such request were to be granted simply 

because the information sought is of interest 

to some small portion of the American public 

and/or could be used by, for example, media 

personnel "in the Madison community," the 
resultant expenditure of public funds would 
be great. onal. 

a search fee in the M ol [Rosenber 

ease, that case involved sustained, national 

public interest and possibly uniqu 

significance. There is absolutely no parallel 
between Mr. Fellner’s request involving an 

“important local news story” and the Rosen~ 
berp, case, because your client's reauest 

simply does not involve any significant bene- 

“fit_to the general public. Accordingly, I 
have concluded, as did Nirector Kelley, that 

the interests of the general public appear 
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‘ more likely to be served by the preservation 
of public funds. I am enclosing a copy of 

my statement at the time of the Meeropol 
search fee waiver which will, I trust, put 
the prgsent situation into proper perspec 

tive 

The statemene referred to by the Deputy Attorney Goneral con= 

cerning the Meeropol search fee waiver on December 1, 1975 

was to the effect that the search fees in that case amounted 

to $20,458; that the magnitude of the sum demonstrated that 

the defendant must review all such fee vaiver requests with 

great care; that the defendant “cannot grant waivers ontans 

an overriding public interest is convincingly established;" 

that the Rosenberg case (the subject of the Meeropol waiver 

request) was “close to being unique in terms of both current 

public intedeae and historical significance;" that requiring 

payment of the search fees could delay or even prevent the 

release‘of some or all of the records concerning which no 

compelling reason for withholding exists; that such delay or 

prevention of release would frustrate defendant's decision to 

release as much.information as possible concerning the Rosen- 

berg case; and that the waiver of the search fees was in the 

1/ The words "in the Madison community” and “an important local. news 
story" appear within quotation marks in the Deputy Attorney General's 
letter refusing the waiver, without explanation of the source of the 

quotes. The phrase "in the Madison community" appears in several of 
the affidavits submitted by the plaintiff in support of his waiver 

request in this context: "...the ultimate release to the public of 
documents...will be of general public benefit in informing the public 

as to the existence or nonexistence of the controversial activities 

by a federal government agency in the Madison community." If this 

the source of the Deputy Attorney General's quotation, the _sienifi- 

cance of the words is not_as_ it appears in his statement.. I have been 

unable to locate the source of the quoted phtase “an importapr local 
news st ." LT.appreciate, however, that the record in this court 

may not include everything submitted to the defendant by the plaintiff 

in support of the request for a waiver. In any cvent, while news of 

plainciff's FOIA request to the defendant and news of the present 

Jawsuit are probably fairly characterized as "a local story," it is 

much less clear whether news of the content of the documents disclosed 

and to be disclosed would be a local story only. 
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public interest in that particular case because the release 

of the records would “benefit the general public far 

more than it will —- individual requester." (The waiver 

in Meeropol reached only the search, not the copying, fees.) 

The unpaid balance of the search and copy fees 

generated to date is $422. The fees yet to be generated ° 

will be copy fees at the rate of 10 cents per page released.   It has been estimated by defendant that there were 15,600 

pages to be reviewed for release or non-release. If the ‘ 

court's order of December 17, 1975 has been complied with, . 

about 3,600 pages remain to be reviewed. If the 3,600 

pages were to be released in their entirety, the additional 

copy fee would be $360. 

Furnishing copies of the pages and portions of 

pages to be released is the course of action which defen- 

dant prefers, as contrasted with permitting plaincifé to 

inspect the original records themselves. However, defen- 

dant has nog been requested to permit inspection of the 

originals by the plaintiff (as compared wich Surciviinx 

copies), and thus has not been called upon either to grant 

or deny such a request. 

OPINION 
The FOIA (§552(a)(4)(A)) provides that in order to 

. 

carry out its provisions, each agency shall specify a 
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schedule of fees “limited to reasonable standard charges 

for document ‘searth and duplication and [providing] for 

recovery of only the dawect costs of such search and dup- 

lication." Thus, Congress has imposed upon usera of the 

service a portion of that expense attributable to their use, 

bute strictly limited to dzeeae costs of search and dupli- 

cation. This reflects both a desire that taxpayers gen=-   
erally not be saddled with the entire costs of services i 

benefitting only or primarily specific persons, and a ° i 

desire that access to public information not be impeded 

by excessive expense to those seeking Acceees The latter 

purpose is accentuated by the further sentence of the sub-= 

section, which contains the language presently at issue: 

“Documents shall be furnished without charge or at a re- 

duced charge where the agency determines that waiver or 

reduction of the fee is in the public interest because 

furnishing the information can be considered as primarily 

benefitting the genersi public." 

Defendant's decision not to waive or reduce the 

fee in the present case is subject to judicial reyiev. 

5 U.S.G. § 702; Association of Data Processing Service 

ovgandzaritons, Inc. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150, 156 (1970); 

Barlow v. Collins, 397 U.S. 159, 166 (1970). See Paramount 

Farms, Inc. v. Morton, 527 F.2d 1301, 1303 (7th Cir. 

197S)i« However, a large measure of discretion clearly 

has been vested in the defendant, and it appears that its 
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exercise of this discretion may be overturned only if 

found to be "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discre- 

tion, or otherwise not in accordance with law...." 5 U.S.C. 

$ 706. 

Were it not for some of the specific languaga 

employed by the Deputy Attorney General in-denying a vaiver 

to the plaintiff, I would be strongly disposed to refrain   from any interference with the exercise of defendant's 

‘diseretion in this case. More to the point, if the adminis- 

trative decision to waive or not to waive the fees Properly — 

depends upon comparing a case like the Rosenberg case with, 

the present case in terms of the scope and intensity of 

public interest in the release of information, there would 

be no basis for disturbing it. 

However, in his letter to the present plainciffé and 

in his statement in connection with the waiver of fees in 

the Meeropol request (apparently intended by him to be 

incorporated -by reference in his denial of this plaintiff's 

request), the Deputy Attorney General appears to have adopted 

one or more cf the following standards in passing upon re- 

quests for waivers: whether the: information sought is of 

interest to a large or small portion of the Amerdenr pub= 

lic; whether the information sought relates to a subject 

of sustained, national] public interest and possibly unique 

historical significance; whether a particular release of 

records will benefit the peneral public far more than it 

will any individual requester; and whether "an overriding 
ee 
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public interest is convincingly established," The Deputy 

Attorney General's Statements do not wake clear which of 

these varying standards has actually beenapplied in the 

present case, but the standard expressed most emphatically 

in his Meeropol statement is this: "...the Department... 

Cannot grant waivers unless an overriding public interesp s 

  

  is convincingly established." 

This latter standard clearly does not conform to 

the statutory language: whether “...furnishing the infor: - ! 

mation can be considered as primarily benefitting the gen- 

eral public.” I think it appropriate that the Deputy 

Attorney General be provided the opportunity to review his 

decision in this case and, if he elects to do so, to make 

more explicit the standard by which the defendant proposes 

to exercise its discretion with respect to waivers or re- 

ductions of fees. ; 

I am persuaded in this direction, too, by Depart- 

ment _of the Air Force v. Rose (United States Supreme Court, 

No. 74-489, April 21, 1976), 44 Law Week 4503. Rose dealt 

  

with the exemptions from disclosure under FOIA, rather than 

with waiver 6 reduction of fees. However, those requesting 

the documents in Rose were editors or former editors of a 

publication (New York University Law Review) and their pur=- 

pose was to explore certain systems and procedures within 

an executive department (disciplinary systems and Procedures 

at the military service academics). The Court remarked 

Loge. 

cat SELES 8
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upon “the pubic’ stake in the operation of the [Honor 

and Ethics] Codes fadministered and enforced at the Air 

Force Academy] as they affect the training of future Air 

Forte officers and their military careers...." and des— 

ceribed these matters as “subject to such a genuine and 

significant public interest." 44 Law Week, at 4508. The 

present case also involves an intention to publish the 

seforumcton to be provided, and the public interest in the 

existence or non-existence of political surveillance by , 

the FBI, and in the nature and scope of such surveillance 

if it exists, seems as genuine and significant as the 

pubite interest in the honor and ethics codes in the mili- 

tary service academies. I do not conclude, of ,course, 

that any information which is non-exempt must be furnished 

without requiring payment of search and copying fees. I 

considee Rose significant here only as it may bear on the 

meaning of the statutory language "primarily benefitting 

  

the general -public.” a 

With respect to plaintiff's motion for an order 

requiring defendant to waive the search and copying fees, 

I will refrain from entering a decision until June 1, 1976, 

or later, in order to provide the defendant the opportunity 

to reconsider the matter and, if it elects to do so, to 

clarify and amplify the basis upon which waiver is refused. 

With respect to defendant's motion for relief from 

the December 17, 1975 order, it appears that although on 
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June 20, 1975, defendant initially denied plaintiff's 

request for a waiver of fees, it has not insisted uneil 

very recently upon prepayment. Also, it has made no 

shoeing whether the copying fees yet to be genersced will 

be substantial. It does not appear that interruption of 

the disclosure schedule pending a resolution of the wenran 

of fees question is appropriate. 

ORDER 

  

It is ordered that defendant's’ motion filed 

April 19, 1976 for relief from the order of this court 

entered December 17, 1975 is DENIED. ; 

Ie is further ordered that a ruling is reserved 

on plaintiff's motion filed April 21, 1976 for an order 

requiring defendant to waive fees for search and copying. 
Hr. 

Envared thiseed” day of April, 1976. 

BY THE COURT: 

saves & Ai 
AMES E. DOYLE 

District Judge 
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“ APOLLON THE JOHM F. KENNEDY ASSASSINATION 

S| Q. Do you happen to know who Lee Harvey Oswald was? 
  

  

j ASSASSINATED PRESIDENT KENNEDY/ACCUSED OF IT . 81% 
ALL OTHER ANSWERS: - 7 
DONT KNOW - soe : / 12° 

  

Q. Do you feel that Lee Harvey Oswald was or. was not the man who shot 
Kennedy? ” 
  

WAS MAN WHO SHOT KENNEDY . 61% 
’ WAS NOT MAN WHO SHOT KENNEDY ‘ 17 

~ DON'T NOW / NO OPINION 22 

  

  

$1 Q. From what you know. about the Kennedy assassinatior’; do you think the 
4 important facts about the assassination have been reported or do you think 

there are still important unanswered questions about the assassination? 
  

IMPORTANT FACTS ARE KNOWN’ . 18% 
STILL UNANSWERED QUESTIONS - , 7 
DON'T-KNOW/NO OPINION et. : 6 

  

41 Q, Do you feel the Kennedy assassinaiion was the work of one mon or was it 
| part of a broader plot? 
  

‘ ONE MAN: hoot ° 13% 
q MORE THAN ONE MAN : 80 
; DON'T KNOW/NO OPINION: : i * 8 y 7 

  

Q.'Da you think-the U.S. government should do a large scale investigation of 
the Kennedy assassination or don’t you think that is necessary? 
  

  

SHOULD. DO IT ‘ ‘ , : 29% 
NOT NECESSARY . 69 
DON'T KNOW/NO OPINION 2 

  

  

Figures bra from a Washington Post-ABC News nationwide telephone poll of 1,505 adukt 
Amaticont:.I) wos conducted Nov: 3 to Nov. 7, 1983.   
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° . . By Kathy Jungjohann (or The Washington Post 

By Barry Sussman : . ‘ : 

rent YEARS and two national investigations after the assassination of John F. 

Kennedy, most Americans think that. the real facts behind the slaying of the 35th 

president have not cometto light. - - * ‘ 
The great majority, 80 percent, feels that what led up to the fateful events in Dallas 

on Nov. 22, 1963, was a‘conspiracy of some kind and not the work of a lone gunman, a 

conclusion exactly opposite to that of the Warren Commission report, the government's 

first major inquiry. : 

Only 6 people in 10, in fact, believe that a shot fired by Lee Harvey Oswald was the 

- one that took Kennedy's life. - 
Despite their doubts, though, most people appear satisfied to let matters rest a3 they 

are; % in 10 say there: should be no new large-scale government investigation at this 

-i_ point. Soe 
These are some ofthe findings of a Washington Post-ABC News poll, conducted this 

: month, examining:what people think today about the first in a series of modern trage- 

. dies that jolted-the nation. The chart provides more of the poll’s findings. _ ‘ 

Barry Suasmaniis:director of polling for The Washington. Post.
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Did Oswald Act Alone? 

We Evaded the Truth Then, 

And Now It Can’t Be Found 
By David E. Kaiser 

HOSE OLD ENOUGH to remember the 
assassination of John F. Kennedy will 

also recall how quickly and easily Americans. 
believed that Lee Harvey Oswald had com- 
mitted the crime alone. In retrospect, this 
seems astonishing; it would have been hard to 
aie up a more suspicious asaassin than Os- 
wal 

A former Marine, Oswald had defected’ to 
the Soviet Union in. 1959 and returned in 
1962. By 1963 he waa a pro-Caatro activist; . 
shortly before the murder he had traveled to 
Mexico to ask Cubar officials for a visa to. 
visit Cuba. Two days after his arrest, he was 
killed in the Dallas police station by Jack 
Ruby, a nightclub operator with numerous 
ties to organized crime: - 

Nonetheless, a poll takertsoon-after the'as=" 
sassination showed that four out of five, 
Americans did not believe there-had beer a 
conspiracy. In part this reflected the innocent 
spirit of the early ’60s; but the country’s fail-- 
ure to investigate possible conspiracies more 
thoroughly also resulted from the political 
realities of the time. [Today public attitudes 
are more skeptical. See Page F2.] 

Within hours of the crime, three of the na- 
tions most powerful men — FBI Director J. 
Edgar Hoover, President Lyndon B. Johnson. 
and Attorney General Robert F. Kennedy — 
had concluded that Oswald’s background and 
connections raised questions they did not 
wish to have answered. 

Of the three, Hoover was the firat to react. 
On the afternoon of Nov. 22, 1963, the day of 
the murder, Dallas FBI agents informed him 
of the identity of the prime suspect. The news 
was highly unwelcome. FBI agents, he was 
told, had suspected both Oswald and his Rus- 
sian bride, Marina, of involvement with 
Soviet intelligence since their return to the 
United States in 1962. Agents in Dallas knew 
about Oswald's recent trip to Mexico. Worst 
of all, Oswald had even left a threatening 
note at the local FBI office after agent James 

  

David Kaiser is an associate profes- 
sor of history at Carnegie- Mellon Uni- 

Hosty interviewed Marina prior to the assas- 
sination. 
Seldom if ever during J. Edgar Hoover's 40° 

years in office had he been faced with such 
embarrassing information. The FBI had 
failed to prevent a known communist and 
possible Soviet intelligence agent under bu-- 
reau surveillance from assassinating the 
president of the United States. 

Privately, Hoover censured 17 FBI officials. 
involved in the case. But within three days — 
long before any full assessment of Oswald’s. 
motives and connections could be made — 
Hoover completely committed himself to the: 
theory that Oswald had acted alone. This: 
clearly was the least embarrassing theory for’ 
the bureau, and having adopted it, Hoover 
was certain to frown on anything that contra- 

dicted it.> --.0. += 2s— 3 

On Nav. 26, Deputy Attomey General” 
Nicholas Katzenbach; who agreed that Os- 
wald had probably acted alone, recommended: 
to Johnson’s assistant Bill Moyers that the 
president appoint.a special commission to in- 
vestigate the case..“The public must be satis- 
fied that Oswald was the assassin; that he did: 
not have confederates who are still at large: 
and that the evidence was such that he would, 
have been convicted at trial,” Katzenbach 
wrote Moyers inamemo.: 

In early December, Hoover gave the White 
House a four-volume report concluding that 
Oswald had acted ‘alone, and the FBI subse~ 
quently. took the position that nothing re~ 
mained: to be discovered. In February, 1964, 
when Soviet defector Yuri Nosenko’ told 
American authorities that Oswald had never 
had any connection with Soviet intelligence; 
Hoover eagerly seized upon his testimony. Aa 
author Edward Jay Epstein showed in his 
1978 book, “Legend,” Hoover insisted on be- 
lieving Nosenko even after CIA investigators 
had developed extensive evidence suggesting 
that Nosenko’s defection had been staged to 
deceive American intelligence. 

President Johnson, who appointed the 
Warren Commission to resolve doubts about 
the murder, had a particularly potent reason 
for not wanting the full truth told: He feared 
it might force him into a disastrous war. 
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ASSASSIN, From Page FT 
From the CIA, the new president probably 

learned not only about Oswald’s Cuban con- 
nection, but also about the CIA’s own plota 
against Fidel Castro’s life. If it became knowa 
that Castro had retaliated through Oswald, it. 
could mean war. - 

“Wild rumors” must be dispelled, Johnson 
told Chief Justice Earl Warren, the commis- 
sion chairman. They could lead the United 
States “into a war which could cost 40 million 
lives. ... If the public became aroused 
against Castro and Khrushchev, there might 
be war.” The CIA never told the Warren: 
Commission about its plots against. Castro’s: 
life. Before leaving the White House, Johnson. 
told Howard. K. Smith. of ABC that 
“Kennedy was trying to get Castro, but Cas~ 
tro got to him first.” : . 

Attorney General Robert Kennedy had his 
own. reasons for limiting the investigation. 
Net- only didhe know of the CIA’s vendetta 
against Castro, he had helped direct it. A fulk 
investigation coticeivably might show that he 
shared the responsibility for his brother’s 
death. And although Kermedy confided; sus- 
picions ta: Arthur Schlesinger that organized 
crime or Castro:might have been behind the 
shooting, he. knew that @ full probe ‘of this 
possibility would reveal the mob’s role in CIA 
assassination. plots, and might even stumble 
upon his-dead brother’s affair with Judith 
Campbell, who had been seeing Mafia figures. 
at the same: time. Deeply depressed, ha re-. 
mained silent publicly about his suspicions: 

ff Be ie : 

Nothing suggests that Hoover, Johnson ot 
Robert Kennedy definitely knew~ of. 
broader conspiracy. But the concerns’ of! 

. Hoover and Johnson severely limited the in-: 
quiry by the Warren Commigsion, which was 
the sole official body charged with the inves- 
tigation. The commission relied on the FBI 
and the CIA for. most of its investigative field 
work. Its final report — completed under 
enormous time pressure — accepted every- 
thing tending to confirm the -theory, of the 
lone assassin, while ignoring or explaining 
away contrary evidence. : 

The Warren Report inevitably became: 
controversial. For 13 years a ateady stream of 
critiques and conspiracy theories found their 

way into print, In 1976, under the impect of- lati . 
Watergate and recent. regarding 

CIA activities, the House of Representatives 
appointed a select committee to investigate 
the assassinations of President Kennedy and 
of Martin Luther King Jr. 

‘Two years later, the House committee con- 
cluded that although Oswald did kill the 
president, he had not acted alone. The com- 

mittee found no evidence definitely identify- 

ing any other individual or groups as mem- 

bers of the conspiracy, but stated that anti- 

Castro or mob figures might have been in- 

volved. It rested its conclusion on new acous- 

tical evidence that two gunmen had fired at 
the president. 

The evidence came from a tape of radio 

transmissions between Dallas motorcyle po- 

licemen and their dispatcher. The tape in- 
cluded a series of sharp sounds similar to: 

static. Im am effort to determine whether 

these sounds might have been made by the: 

asgassin’s rifle, the congressional committee 

turned the recording over to the Cambridge, 

Mass., firm of Bolt, Beranek and Newman, 

the same acoustical specialists who had ear- 

lier analyzed the 18-minute-gap on the White. 

House tapes that were evidence in the im-° 

peachment of President Nixon. . 
Comparing the sounds on the tape to the 

sounds of gunfire recorded during a recon- 

struction of the assassination in Dallas’s Dea- 

ley Plaza, James Barger concluded that the 

sounds included as many as four gunshots re- 

corded through the open microphone of a po- 

lice motorcycle about ‘120 feet’ behind the 
presidential limousine. He also estimated a 
probability of 50 percent that the third im- 

pulse, heard lesa than one second before the 

fourth, represented a shot not: from Oswald's 
perch in the-Texas School Book Depository, 
but from the. so-called grassy knoll in front 
and to the right of the motorcade, 
“The significance of Barger’s findings in- 

-ereased when photographic evidence revealed 
_. the presence of a motorcycle in exactly the 

-position he had predicted. The timing of the 
four impulses on the tape algo coincided with 
the findings of photographic experts. who 

analyzed films and photographs.of the asses- 

gination. Two other experts who investigated. 

the third impulse on the tape more thor- 

oughly concluded that the probability that it 
represented a shot from the grassy knoll was 
95 percent. Although the committee con: 

cluded that the shot had missed, Bz: fiidingd 

still undermined the critical conclusion of the 
Warren Commission: the ides.of th:lonw ae 

sasainis *: , 

In a 1980 evaluation of the House commit- 
tee’s findings, the FBI argued that the ex- 
perts had not proven that a shot came from 
the grassy knoll. The Justice Department de- 
cided not to pursue the matter further. 

_ Two years later, a panel of the National 
Academy of Sciences criticized the FBI’s 
methodology; but also concluded that voices 
recorded on the: tapes proved that the im- 
pulses thought to have been shots had oc- 
curred more than a minute after the assassi- 
nation. They also argued that statistical er- 
rors had led the committee experts to assign 
exceasive probabilities to their findings. The 
panel added that further analysis could ba- 
done but doubted the results would justify. 
the cost. This controversy has added a layer- 

of ambiguity to a case that hardly needed any 
moreofit, — ° : 

‘ a 8 : 
The tape, however, is far from. being the 

only evidence that Oswald had confederates. 
Numerous eyewitnesses — all eventually dis-- 
counted. by the Warren Commission —- 
thought they: had heard a shot from the 
grassy knoll; A Dallas: policeman who im- 
mediately ran behind the knoll told the War- 
ren.Commission that he had accosted a man 
who produced Secret Service credentials — 
credentials which. must have been fake, since 
the Secret Service had no man in that loca- 
tion. ‘ ; 

A second criticat fact concerns the shot Os- 
wald: apparently fired in April 1963 at right- 
wing extremist and. retired Army Gen. Edwin 
Walker. Marina Oswald told the Warren 
Commission her husband had tried to kill 
Walker, and a photograph of Walker’s house 
was found among Oswald’s: effects, A few 
days before the incident, a friend of Walker’s 
had seen two men looking into Walker’s then 
empty house. A young witness to the actual 
shooting saw two men drive away in separate 
vehiclea, and Walker himself also saw a vehi- 
cle leave the scene. No one has ever identified 
Oswald’s companion or companions, - 

An equally troubling piece of evidence sug- 
gesting a conpiracy was given to the FBI by a 
Cuban refugee; Silvia Odio, in December 
1963. She latertold her story to the Warren 
Commission. - ~ . . . i, 

In late September 1963, when Oswald was. 
on. his way from New Orleans to. Mexico, 
three men. came to her Dallas apartment.
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Odio’s father: wes then in prison in.Cuba as a 
result of hig attempts to assassinate Castro — 
attempts assisted by the CIA. Two of tha 
men seemed to be Cubans; the other was an- 
American ex-Marine introduced to her, she 
said, as Leon.Oswald, The two Hispanic men 
claimed to be friends of her father, and asked: 
for her help in anti-Castro work, but she was 
noncommittal, The next day one of the men 
telephoned her and told her that he hoped to 
get “Leon” into the anti-Castro underground. 
Leon, he said, was an expert marksman who 
would “do- anything,” including killing Cas- 
tro, and who had stated that Cubans should 
have shot President Kennedy after the Bay of 

Pigs. : . 
Silvia Odio said: she immediately recog: 

nized Oswald when she saw him on television 
after the murder. The Warren Commission 
made an extremely unconvincing attempt to 
discredit her story: But she subsequently com- 
vinced authors Edward Jay Epatein and As 
thony Summers; as well as the House Com~ 
mittee, that her story is true. Moreover it im 
confirmed by other witnesses, and by some 
documentary evidence, : 

A B As. 

Of the many theories of the assassination 
that have been advanced,’ which seem moat 
plausible in light of this evidence? 

Ironically, Edward’ Jay Epstein, one of the 
first and most acute critics of. the Warrén 
Commission’s work, ‘has subsequently pro- 
duced the most convincing “lone assassin” 
theory in his book, “Legend.” Although Ep- 
stein implies that Oswald had been recruited 
by Soviet intelligence even before his defec- 
tion to Russia; he does not argue that Oswald. 
was acting on Soviet orders when he shot 
Kennedy. Instead, his book suggests that Os- 
wald by 1961 had become disillusioned by 
Soviet communism and, like thousands of 
young Americans later in the decadé, waa- 
searching for a new home on the left. Thus he. 
subscribed to both Trotskyite and communist 
publicationa, became interested: in’ Castro’s 
revolution, and apparently converted himself. 
to the idea of direct revolutionary action, as: 
shown by his purchase of two guns in early 
1963. , ‘ 

Epstein also found witnesses. who recalled 
Oswald making bitter attacks upon Ken- 
nedy’s imperialist and interventionist policy 
towards Cuba, and calling Gen. Walker a fas- 
cist as dangerous as Adolf Hitler. During the 
summer of 1963, Epstein argued, Oswald 

    

tried to establish his pra-Castro bona fides im 
New Orleans by founding his one-man chap- 
ter of the Fair Play for Cuba Committee and 
making several, public appearances., In late 
September he went to Mexico City to try to 
arrange to travel to Cuba, but the Cuban em- 
bassy would not grant him a-visa without 
thoroughly checking his-background. Epstein. 
implies that Oswald shot Kennedy, in a: fit of 
revolutionary fervor. ; . “ 

An extension of Epstein’s theory to cover 
the. evidence.for conspiracy: would. suggest’ 
that Oswald could have been assisted by one 
or two other pro-Castro activists like himself. 
His visit to Silvia Odio could thus be seen as 
an attempt to infiltrate an anti-Castro group 
similar to an attempt he had made earlier ir 
New Orleans. No theory fits all the facts; this 
one probably fits them: as welt as any other. 

However, it- also prompts one to -ask 
whether. Lyndon Johnson may have been 
right. If Oswald killed Kennedy on hehalf of 
the Cuban revolution, could: Castro himself 
have been responsible? The Cuban. leader 
knew about CIA attempts: to assasainate him 
and had recently warned Kennedy through a 
preas correspondent that, if such intrigues . 
continued, American leaders would..not be. 
immune from retaliation, |... a 

On the other hand, Castro'was also in the 
midst of delicate negotiations at the United 
Nations aiming at normalization of Cuban- 
American relations. In any case, to have se- 
lected Oswald seems on the face of it to Have’ 
bees much too risky. For Castro ‘to havé 
trusted such a shady individual with such-@ 
critical mission would’ have been rash, to say 
the least. The Cubans strongly suspected: thus 
their Mexican embassy was: bugged by the 
CIA, and according to a confidential: intellié 
gencs source, Oswald actually diacyssed kill- 
ing Kennedy when he visited that embasay.:” 

As for the Soviet KGB, ita motives: for asd 
sasainating the American president — now 
actively working for Soviet-American detenta 
—seemunfathomabla = =: + ge - 

; so So 
- Another theory, raised. from the beginning. 
by leftish critics of the. Warren Commissions 
and argued moat thoroughly by Anthony, 
Summers’ 1979. book; .\‘Conspiracy,”’: holda; 
that- Kennedy was a-victim of ‘a, rightewing, 
conspiracy involving anti-Castro Cubans.and,, 
possibly, elementa within the CIA, Anti-Gaas 
tro activists resented Kennedy’s failure to fale, 
low up the Bay of Pigs invasion and his Octo-. 
ber. 1962 pledge ‘not to invade Cuba. Perhaps* 
they hoped to provoke an American invasion: 
of Cuba by pinning the assassination on Og» 
wald — exactly the possibility that Johnson 
feared. ‘ . 

Some evidence to support this theory has 
surfaced since the Warren Report. Fair Play 

    

for Cuba leaflets issued by Oswald in New 
Orleans in 1963 bore the address 544 Camp 
St. That address housed the otfices of Guy 
Banister, a former FBE' agent active in all 
manner of extreme right-wing: causes and 

| anti-Castro activities, Several witnesses have 
‘gtated that Banister at least was aware of Os- 
wald’s existance; but whether they knew each 

_other is uncléar, The Warren Report did not- 
mention Banister, and stated only that it 
found no- evidence that Oswald ever main- 
tained an office at 544 Camp St. i 

Qswald’s meeting with Silvia Odio may also 
indieate- an association: with anti-Castro 
Cubans. An anti-Castro Cuban named Anto- 
nio Veciana, who claims a long relationship 
with the CIA, has-stated that he met Oswald 
in September 1963 in Dallas together with his 
CIA case officer, a man he knew only as 
“Maurice Bishop;” but this statement re-, 
mains unconfirmed. 

This theory, however, is difficult to recon- 
cile with what we know about Oswald. Given 
the wealth of evidence that his real sympa- 
thies were with the left, it seems more likely 
that his contacts with right-wing groups were 
efforts to infiltrate the enemy camp rather 
than reflections of his own sympathies. Some 
have therefore argued that Oswald did not 
really shoot Kennedy at all, but was framed 
by right-wing elements. However, given that 
Kennedy was killed by Oswald’s rifle — and 
that Oswald had made a special trip home on 
the evening of Nov. 21 to pick it up and bring 
it to work — Oswald seems at the very least a 
willing participant in a conspiracy to kill the: 
president, From what we know, he needed: no 
inspiration and received no assistance from 
others. to carry out the crima'— except for 
that of the unknown accomplice, if there was 
one, who may have fired a shot. from the 
grassy knoll. Some anti-Castro Cubans may 
bave welcomed. the news of Nov. 22, 1963, but. 
the case againat them is far from proven. 

G. Robert Blakey, the Notre Dame law 
professor. who served as counsel to the Assaie 
sinations Committee, and committee staffer 
Richard N. Billings argued in their 1981 
book, “The Plot to Kill the President,” that. 
Kennedy was murdered by organized crimés 
The mob probably had the most’ powerful 

motive for the murder of the president. At- 
torney General Robert Kennedy had mobi- 
lizect the full resources of the government to 
break their power. The murder of the attor- 
ney. general would have incurred the vengefuk 
wrath of the president, but the murder of the 
president could and did lead both-to the re-" 
placement of the attorney general and the 
end of his aggressive campaign against organs 

ized crime. . eonge ms 
In fact, illegal surveillance of mob figures in 

the early 19603 overheard talk of a presiden-
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tial hit. In the early 19703, John Roselli, a- 
mobster previously involved in CIA-Mafia as- 
sasaination plots against Castro, told colum- 
nist Jack Anderson that Oswald had been re- 
cruited- by mobster Santo Tratficante and - 
that another gunman had fired at Kennedy 
from the-front. Roselli was murdered. after 
telling the dame story to the Senate Intelli- 
gence Committee; his associate Sam Gian- 
cana was murdered before he could make a 

similar appearance. Other witnesses told the 

Assassinations Committee that both Traffi- 
cante and mob boss Carlos Marcello of New 
Orleans had talked about the possibility of © 
assassinating Kennedy. 

rage Mat 

Mob figures with whont Oswald associated 
include his maternal uncle, Charlea: Murret, 
and pilot David Ferrie —- both residents of 
New Orleans, where Oswald: spent most of 
the summer of 1963, and both involved with 
Marcello. Jack Ruby, who shot Oswald in the 
Dallas police station; had been involved with 
the mob-since childhood.  .. ~°- 

- The idea that the- mob seleeted.an unstable 
Marxist ex-Marine for the assignment of kill-' 
ing the president’ will seem implausible to-- 
some; Hut Blakey and Billings note that inv 
197E “Crazy Joe” Gallo, a New York-mobster, 
employed Jerome Johnson, a black petty 
criminal known fos mental instability, to as- 
sasainate fellow-mob boss Joseph Colombo at 
a-public rally: Johnson himself was shot-to 
death aaly seconds after his crime. Police re- 
garded him aa-a crazed lone assassin until 
after Gallo waa murdered by Colombo associ- 
ates, in révenge,. Perhaps mob chieftains call _ 
upon unlikely assassins for especially delicate. 
asaignments.. Oswald. may not hava known. 
the.real. background of tha unidentified. fig- 
ures who approached him, But while appeal- 

ys, the, mob theory is not, ing in, many, wa 

      

‘Twenty years after the crime the evidence - 
boils down to possibilities and-vague prob- 
abilities, Oswald may have been .part of a 
large conspiracy. or a very small one; he. may 
even haye acted alone, The full truth would 

have’ been difficult to discover eyen in 1963- 
64; now it is probably lost to us forever: 

Instead, the Kennedy assassination stands 
ag an example of what can happen when law 
collides with politics. Law enforcement pro- 
fessionals such as Dr. Cyril Wecht, a leading 
forensic pathologist and an early critic of the 
Warren Commission, have argued again and 
again, that the case was handled far more 
sloppily and inefficiently thari any run-of- 
the-mill homicide. This was no accident. The , 

Sieg Be B. er 

magnetic personality of John F. Kennedy had 
won him devoted followers and powerful ene- 
mies. The men who had to deal with the af- 
termath of his death knew that the full facts 
might have devastating consequences. They 
made sure the investigation would not be a 
professional, disinterested search for the 
truth, 

Even the dead president’s body was a 
potential embarrassment, A thorough au- 
topsy would reveal that he suffered from Ad- 
dison’s disease, a fact which had been denied 
for political reasons. Thus, on the afternoon 
of his death his body was forcibly removed 
from the custody of Texas officials attempt- 
ing to enforce Texas law and turned over that 
night to Navy doctors at Bethesda Naval 
Hospital who had no qualifications as foren-. 
sic pathologists, Their failure to do a thor- 
ough job has been another source of contro- 
versy, . 3 : 

Americans in 1963 shared many illusions, . 
We believed that the FBI was an utterly reli-: 
able investigative body and that the CIA: 
would riot stoop to the assassination of a for-- 
eign. leader. The idea that the president 
might’ shire a woman’s favors with mobsters 
would have seemed. as outrageous as the idea 
‘that the president might successfully be as 
sassinated for political reasons. 

John Kennedy’s inspirational rhetoric had 
encouraged our simple, self-confident view of 
ourselves. With Lyndor Johnson calling us 
forward to complete the dead president's 

" work, we had neither the time nor the inclina- 
tion to consider the frightening possiblities 
surrounding the crime. 

We have become more suspicious during 
the last two decades. A recent Washington 
Post poll [see accompanying box] shows that 
four-out of five now believe Kennedy’s assas- 
‘sination was the work of more than one man. 
We do not know for certain if that belief is 
correct, but we do know that our world is 
much more complicated than we allowed our- 
selves to believe in 1963.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CouRT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

A. Allen, 

Ve 

Plaintiff 

Civil Action 
No. 81-1206 

Federal Bureau of Investigations, et al. 

Defendants 

Affidavit 

I, G. Robert Blakey, being duly sworn, depose and say as 

follows: 

(1) I am currently a professor of law at the Notre Dame 

Law School, Notre Dame, Indiana 46556, 

(2) From July of 1977 to January of 1979, I was the chief 

counsel and staff director of the U.S. House of Representatives 

Select Committee on Assassination that looked into the assassi- 

~ nation of President John F. Kennedy, in which capacity I per- 

. sonally supervised and reviewed the compilation of all materials 

|; Published by the Committee. 

(3) I have also reviewed the affidavit of John N. Phillips, | 

" special agent, F.B.I., dated January 12, 1981, filed in this 

‘matter, including paragraph 5, which states: 

(4) 

The HSCA reviewed the material described 
in paragraph 4 supra spending approximately 
five million dollars. At the conclusion of 
their (sic) investigation the HSCA published 

a 260 page report with 12 volumes of exhibits 

in which they (sic) included everything which 

could be deemed as relating to ene assassina= 

tion of President Kennedy (emphasis added). 

Special Agent Phillips is in error. The Committee was 

‘ not able to publish everything it wanted to publish or which was 

' relevant to the President's assassination, as it ran out of time 

‘and appropriations. In fact, little of the F.B.I. files made 

‘available to the Committee was directly published. The Committee 

concentrated its efforts,in the main, on publishing original 

_ material not available elsewhere. 

Attachment 5 Civil Action No. 81-2543 

 



  

    

    

      

  

: (S) Whatever the merits of the pending litigation, it 
should not be resolved, in whole or in part, on any contrary 

assumption. 

Eeltr Qeok_ 
G. Robert Blakey 
Professor of Law 
Notre Dame Law School 
Notre Dame, IN 46556 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this is day of 

Aina, 1982. 
  

> A 

Notary Public 
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Introduction 

Novus ordo saeculorum, a new order of the ages, reads the motto on the 
Great Seal of the United States. It captures what three centuries emblazoned 

before the world’s eyes: America, located where Europe’s western and Asia’s 

eastern frontiers converged, where generations of hopeless, hapless, landless 
poor sought to redeem their misfortunes. From Thomas Jefferson’s day 

through the early 1960s, American political rhetoric has sustained such 
hopes, emphasizing human renewal and the frontier spirit. With the arrival 

of ‘‘The New Frontier’’ in 1961, such rhetorical expressions of collective 
idealism found their culminating enthusiasm. . 

The murder of President John F. Kennedy jolted that image and reality, 

inside and outside the United States. Subsequent if unrelated assassinations, 
then Vietnam and Watergate have seemed sounding bells that many heard 
as heralding the end for that pax Americana forged by World War II. 

America’s forefathers had celebrated its distance from the Old World’s 
order, seen as tainted by monarchy, class, conspiracies, and cynicism about 
the capabilities of common humanity. Even more, America had tradiiionally 

defined its destiny as ruled by a written constitution and the impartial en- 
forcement of law. 

But that act of 22 November 1963, jeopardized this New Worid’s self- 

perception and challenged its very commitment to pluralism, publicity, law, 
and competitive democracy. Agonizing self-appraisal continued despite the 
1964 presidential Warren Commission’s Report, and probably because of 

it. The Commission had acted as a hasty substitute for due process of law, 
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offering 
little 

m
o
r
e
 

than 
an 

official 
quietus 

m
a
n
u
f
a
c
t
u
r
e
d
 

for 
domestic 

sonsciences 
and 

foreign 
skeptics. 

Four 
years 

later, 
Garrison’s 

bungled 
in- 

vestigation 
and 

the 
Kennedy-Manchester 

imbroglio 
became 

mere 
publicity- 

seeking 
interludes 

before 
new 

killings 
and 

new 
questions. 

In 
retrospect, 

American 
idealism 

began 
to 

die 
on 

the 
streets 

of 
Dallas. 

Sixteen 
years 

later, 

for 
most 

people 
the 

question 
‘‘who 

killed 
Kennedy?”’ 

remains 
open 

and 

confused. 

As 
part 

of 
a 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963 
political 

fence-mending 
effort, 

President 

Kennedy 
had 

taken 
his 

full 
entourage 

into 
Texas, 

making 
various 

appear- 

ances 
and 

speeches. 
Late 

in 
the 

morning 
of 

22 
November, 

Air 
Force 

One 

led 
at 

Love 
Field 

on 
the 

outskirts 
of 

Dallas, 
where 

a 
motorcade 

waited 

to 
take 

him 
through 

the 
city’s 

center 
for 

lunch 
at 

the 
T
r
a
d
e
 
Mart. 

There 
he 

planned 
to 

deliver 
a 
moderating 

speech 
against 

political 
extremism, 

racial- 

ism, 
and 

the 
mood 

for 
witch-hunting 

and 
scapegoating. 

He 
rode 

openly 
in 

the 
rear 

seat 
with 

Mrs. 
Kennedy; 

Governor 
and 

Mrs. 
John 

B. 
Connally 

sat 

forward 
in 

the 
jump 

seats; 
two 

Secret 
Service 

men 
occupied 

the 
front 

seat, 

one 
driving. 

Moving 
down 

Main 
Street 

the 
limousine 

entered 
Dealey 

Plaza, 

where 
it 

i
m
m
e
d
i
a
t
e
l
y
 

turned 
hard 

right 
onto 

H
o
u
s
t
o
n
 

Street, 
went 

one 

short 
block, 

slowed 
almost 

to 
a 

stop, 
turned 

very 
sharply 

left 
onto 

the 

curving 
Elm 

Street, 
where 

it 
passed 

beneath 
the 

seven-story 
Texas 

School 

Book 
Depository. 

Shots 
rang 

out. 
It was 

12:30 
p.M., 

Central 
Standard 

Time. 

President 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

was 
clearly 

struck 
as 

he 
clutched 

for 
his 

throat, 
then 

the 
top 

of 
his 

head 
exploded 

as 
he 

slammed 
down 

into 
his 

wife’s 
lap. 

Directly 

in 
front 

of 
him 

G
o
v
e
r
n
o
r
 
C
o
n
n
a
l
l
y
 

received 
five 

w
o
u
n
d
s
 

and 
spun 

into his 

wife’s 
arms. 

Several 
score 

feet 
away, 

standing 
near 

the 
triple 

underpass, 

citizen 
James 

T. 
Tague 

was 
sprayed 

by 
fragments 

created 
by 

a 
bullet 

that 

emashed 
into 

the 
curbstone 

at 
his 

feet. 
At 

1:00 
p.m. 

President 
Kennedy 

was 

nounced 
dead 

at 
Parkland 

Hospital. 

At 
1:50 

p.M., 
Lee 

Harvey 
Oswald, 

an 
employee 

at 
the 

Texas 
School 

Book 

Depository, 
was 

arrested 
in 

the 
Texas 

Theater, 
a 
cinema 

in 
another 

section 

of 
Dallas. 

H
o
u
r
s
 

later 
Captain 

J. 
Will 

Fritz, 
Dallas’s 

chief 
h
o
m
i
c
i
d
e
 

in- 

spector, 
charged 

Oswald 
with 

murdering 
Police 

Officer 
J. 

D. 
Tippit, 

who 

had 
been 

shot 
dead 

between 
the 

Texas 
Theater 

and 
the 

Texas 
School 

Book 

Depository 
sometime 

before 
1:10 

P.M. 
That 

night, 
at 

about 
1:30 

A.M. 
on 

the 

23rd, 
Dallas 

police 
formally 

accused 
Oswald 

of 
the 

murder 
of President 

Kennedy. 
One 

day 
later, 

the 
operator 

of 
a 

Dallas 
striptease 

club, 
Jack 

Ruby, 
shot 

and 
killed 

O
s
w
a
l
d
 

while 
police 

tried 
to 

transfer 
O
s
w
a
l
d
 
from 

the 

city 
to 

the 
county 

jail, 
under 

a 
blaze 

of 
media 

publicity a
n
d
‘
l
i
v
e
 
television 

lighting. 
‘ 

, 

In 
the 

prevailing 
law, 

murder 
of 

a 
United 

States 
president 

remained 

ordinary 
homicide 

limited 
to 

state 
and 

local 
jurisdiction. 

Dallas’s 
chaos 

and 
the 

manifest 
i
n
c
o
m
p
e
t
e
n
c
e
 

of 
all 

law 
officers 

in 
the 

circumstances, 

whether 
local 

or 
federal, 

translated 
instantly 

into 
a 

national 
anxiety 

about     
  

Introduction 

the 
rule 

of 
law. 

A 
magisterial 

funeral 
in 

Washington, 
followed 

with 
macabre 

irony 
by 

the 
traditional 

Thanksgiving 
holiday, 

restored 
order 

without 

confidence. 
President 

Lyndon 
B. 

Johnson 
hastened 

to 
appoint 

a 
special 

presidential, 
blue-ribbon 

commission 
headed 

by 
the 

Chief 
Justice 

of 
the 

U.S. 
Supreme 

Court 
to 

inquire 
into 

the 
events 

and 
the 

law. 

K
n
o
w
l
e
d
g
e
 

of 
the 

origin, 
operation, 

and 
conclusions 

of 
the 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

must 
precede 

any 
understanding 

of 
the 

swirls 
of 

controversy 

that 
still 

surround 
President 

Kennedy’s 
murder. 

Its 
twenty-seven 

published 

volumes’ 
effectively 

preempted 
the 

subject, 
shifting 

investigations 
away 

from 
the 

act 
itself 

over 
to 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

data 
and 

its 
inadequacies. 

Its 
influence 

remains 
today a 

silent 
hand 

from 
the 

past, 
actively 

shaping 

perimeters 
of 

public 
belief 

and 
exerting 

intense 
pressure 

upon 
politicians 

and 
government 

attorneys. 
Every 

federal 
inquiry, 

both 
executive 

and 
legis- 

lative, 
into 

the 
murder 

and 
its 

attendant 
questions 

has 
accepted 

the 
Warren 

Commission’s 
conclusions 

as 
the 

premise 
upon 

which 
to 

launch 
its 

probe. 

Senator 
Richard 

Schweiker, 
for 

example, 
specifically 

acknowledged 
the 

validity 
of 

the 
Commission’s 

findings, 
then 

said 
that 

his 
inquiry 

would 

search 
out 

how 
a 

foreign 
conspiracy 

had 
actually 

operated 
through 

the 

person 
of 

Oswald.” 
The 

latest 
inquiry, 

by 
the 

House 
Select 

Committee 
on 

Assassinations, 
initially 

stated 
that 

one 
of 

its 
tasks 

would 
be 

to 
make 

the 

Warren 
Commission’s 

findings 
“persuasive.”” 

Only 
on 

the 
last 

day 
of 

public 

hearings, 
during 

the 
Christmas 

season 
of 

1978, 
did 

it 
openly 

stumble 
upon 

audio 
evidence 

of 
conspiracy 

that 
could 

not 
be 

refuted. 
The 

H
o
u
s
e
 
C
o
m
-
 

mittee 
still 

accepted 
the 

mass 
of 

Warren 
Commission 

data, 
without 

challenge 

to 
specific 

items 
or 

comprehension 
of 

the 
circumstances 

in 
which 

all 
of 

it 

was 
compiled.’ 

Few 
realize 

even 
today 

that 
during 

the 
first 

days 
following 

the 
murder 

the 

world 
came 

close 
to 

nuclear 
war, 

at 
least 

according 
to 

the 
latest 

expert 
on 

the 
subject. 

A
m
e
r
i
c
a
n
 

forces 
entered 

a 
“‘red 

alert’’ 
phase, 

the 
highest 

state 

of 
readiness 

for 
a 

p
r
e
e
m
p
t
i
v
e
 

nuclear 
strike.‘ 

Vital 
federal 

intelligence 

channels 
clogged 

under 
the 

sheer 
mass 

of 
data 

being 
frantically 

transmitted. 

The 
new 

president, 
known 

for 
occasional 

impetuosity, 
proceeded 

with 
a 

c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
b
l
e
 

caution 
in 

his 
first 

hours 
and 

days, 
fearful 

of 
every 

interna- 

tional 
implication. 

In 
the 

midst 
of 

a 
constantly 

deteriorating 
situation, 

tension 
mounted 

as 
numerous 

bits 
of 

wrong 
or 

trivial 
information 

reached 

the 
W
h
i
t
e
 

H
o
u
s
e
.
 

The 
C
I
A
’
s
 

M
e
x
i
c
a
n
 

substation 
i
m
m
e
d
i
a
t
e
l
y
 

reported 

Oswald 
as 

Castro’s 
hireling,’ 

while 
the 

FBI 
could 

produce five 
volumes 

of 

‘facts’ 
less 

than 
three 

weeks 
after 

the 
murder, 

on 
behalf 

of 
the 

Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
.
*
 

O
p
i
n
i
o
n
s
 
b
e
c
a
m
e
 

truths, 
fiction 

achieved 
factuality, 

preju- 

dices 
b
e
c
a
m
e
 

official 
insights, 

and 
b
l
a
m
e
 

began 
to 

stick 
to 

everyone 
and 

everything. 

D
o
m
e
s
t
i
c
 

conditions 
heightened 

the 
potential 

for 
rash 

reactions. 
U
n
d
e
r
 

the 
glare 

of 
camera 

lights 
and 

before 
several 

hundred 
reporters, 

Dallas
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officials 
announced 

their 
capture 

of 
a 

‘‘communist’’ 
who 

had 
killed 

the 

president. 
The 

media 
saturated 

the 
public 

with 
‘‘facts’’ 

of 
O
s
w
a
l
d
’
s
 

‘‘com- 

munist”’ 
activities 

and 
Marxist 

beliefs. 
In 

Congress, 
several 

m
e
m
b
e
r
s
 
m
o
v
e
d
 

for 
investigations, 

vying 
with 

each 
other 

for 
the 

c
h
a
i
r
m
a
n
s
h
i
p
 

of 
p
r
o
p
o
s
e
d
 

committees. 
A
n
t
i
c
o
m
m
u
n
i
s
t
 

hysteria 
in 

the 
United 

States, 
which 

predated 

the 
Russian 

Revolution, 
had 

cyclically 
reared 

its 
fevered 

head 
against 

presi- 

dents 
elected 

from 
the 

D
e
m
o
c
r
a
t
i
c
 

party. 
But 

cultivating 
it 

daily 
in 

the 
w
a
k
e
 

of 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
’
s
 

murder, 
as 

m
a
n
y
 

editors, 
reporters 

and 
politicians 

did, 
only 

exalted 
the 

c
o
n
s
p
i
r
a
c
y
-
m
i
n
d
e
d
 

and 
exacerbated 

the 
c
o
n
d
u
c
t
 

of 
foreign 

policy. 
Added 

to 
perils 

of 
revived 

witch-hunting, 
no 

one 
knew 

with 
any 

*rtainty, 
despite 

unprecedented 
coverage 

by 
newsmen, 

what 
precisely 

had 

.:anspired 
in 

Dallas 
and 

why. 

To 
allay 

fears 
and 

restore 
public 

confidence 
in 

law 
and 

elected 
officials, 

the 
executive 

branch 
directed 

that 
the 

murdered 
Oswald 

be 
identified 

as 

the 
sole 

killer. 
O
s
w
a
l
d
 

was 
dead; 

there 
could 

be 
no 

trial. 
In 

a 
26 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963 
m
e
m
o
r
a
n
d
u
m
 

to 
Presidential 

Assistant 
Bill 

Moyers, 
the 

Deputy 
At- 

torney 
General 

Nicholas 
Katzenbach 

defined 
the 

prosecution’s 
position: 

“The 
public 

must 
be 

satisfied 
that 

Oswald 
was 

the 
assassin; 

that 
he 

did 
not 

have 
confederates 

who 
are 

still 
at 

large; 
and 

that 
the 

evidence 
was 

such 
that 

he 
w
o
u
l
d
 

have 
been 

convicted 
at 

trial.’”"’ 
This 

day, 
then, 

while 
President 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
’
s
 
r
e
q
u
i
e
m
 
mass 

and 
burial 

were 
taking 

place, 
his 

o
w
n
 

presidential 

appointees 
had 

begun 
the 

policy 
of 

burying 
the 

issues 
of 

fact, 
of 

guilt, 
and 

of 
law. 

President 
J
o
h
n
s
o
n
 

implored 
Earl 

W
a
r
r
e
n
,
 

the 
Chief 

Justice, 
to 

head 
the 

presidential 
commission, 

arguing 
that 

only 
men 

with 
highest 

public 
respect 

could 
still 

the 
nation 

and 
abate 

any 
domestic 

military 
threat. 

In 
his 

m
e
m
o
i
r
s
,
 

Chief 
Justice 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 

stated 
that 

he 
took 

this 
c
h
a
i
r
m
a
n
s
h
i
p
 

with 
e
x
t
r
e
m
e
 

luctance, 
only 

after 
President 

Johnson 
made 

an 
emotional 

appeal 
to 

his 

love 
of 

country. 
To 

refuse, 
it 

was 
suggested, 

could 
mean 

‘‘40,000,000 
lives 

lost’’ 
in 

a 
nuclear 

war.° 

J
o
h
n
s
o
n
 
a
p
p
o
i
n
t
e
d
 

six 
other 

m
e
m
b
e
r
s
 

to 
his 

c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
.
 
T
w
o
 

Senators: 

John 
Sherman 

Cooper, 
Republican 

from 
Kentucky, 

and 
Richard 

Russell, 

Democrat 
from 

Georgia; 
two 

Congressmen: 
Gerald 

R. 
Ford, 

Republican 

from 
Michigan, 

and 
Hale 

Boggs, 
Democrat 

from 
Louisiana; 

the 
former 

head 
of 

the 
C
I
A
,
 

Allen 
Dulles; 

and 
a 
N
e
w
 

Y
o
r
k
 

banker, 
John 

J. 
M
c
C
l
o
y
,
 

c
o
m
p
l
e
t
e
d
 

the 
blue-ribbon 

panel. 
It 

remains 
a 
m
o
n
u
m
e
n
t
 

to 
J
o
h
n
s
o
n
’
s
 

masterly 
political 

skills. 
Cooper, 

Ford, 
and 

Dulles 
neutralized 

the 
opposition 

Republican 
party; 

McCloy 
and 

Dulles 
reassured 

the 
financiagovérnmental 

nexus; 
and 

Southerners 
Boggs 

and 
Russell 

blocked 
any 

attack 
from 

the 

political 
right. 

Warren’s 
acceptance 

immediately 
quieted 

the 
nation’s 

liberals, 

especially 
the 

Eastern 
base 

of 
Kennedy 

supporters 
and 

university 
academi- 

cians, 
thereby 

eliminating 
from 

later 
controversies 

the 
single 

most 
effective 

potential 
sector 

of 
dissent 

to 
commission 

procedures 
and 

results. 
Silence 
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and 
apathy 

have 
greeted 

the 
entire 

subject 
of 

President 
Kennedy’s 

murder 

ever 
since, 

among 
serious 

scholars 
generally 

and 
with 

U.S. 
historians 

in 

particular. 
Even 

that 
contemporary 

critic 
of 

federal 
policy 

and 
bureaucracy, 

I. 
F. 

Stone, 
placed 

himself 
well 

inside 
lines 

d
r
a
w
n
 

by 
J
o
h
n
s
o
n
’
s
 

choice 
of 

Warren. 
The 

Chief 
Justice’s 

record 
for 

civil 
liberties 

and 
race 

relations 
was 

e
n
o
u
g
h
 

for 
Stone 

to 
“‘letter-whip”” 

mercilessly 
the 

critics 
of 

the 
c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
,
 

facts 
notwithstanding.’ 

Like 
most 

federal 
committees, 

the 
Warren 

Commission 
worked 

through 

its 
own 

staff. 
The 

seven 
members, 

being 
busy 

public 
officials 

with 
full-time 

interests 
elsewhere, 

had 
little 

time 
and 

expertise 
for 

the 
exacting 

research 

requisite 
to 

a 
criminal 

case. 
They 

selected a 
staff 

of 
eighty-four 

and 
named 

as 
chief 

legal 
counsel 

J. 
Lee 

Rankin, 
a 

former 
Solicitor 

General 
of 

the 

United 
States. 

The 
commission 

did 
not, 

however, 
assemble 

a 
body 

of 
crimi- 

nal 
law 

specialists, 
inspectors, 

and 
field 

investigators, 
choosing 

instead 
to 

rely 
entirely 

on 
several 

federal 
agencies, 

mainly 
the 

FBI. 
This 

decision 
to 

farm 
out 

the 
entire 

investigation 
d
o
o
m
e
d
 

the 
Warren 

Commission 
inquiry 

from 
the 

start. 
No 

one 
at 

the 
time 

dared 
suggest 

that 
an 

objective 
inquiry 

ought, 
at 

s
o
m
e
 

point, 
to 

include 
scrutiny 

of 
H
o
o
v
e
r
’
s
 

FBI. 
Quis 

custodiet 

ipsos 
custodes?'° 

Thus, 
on 

9 
December 

1963, 
the 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

laid 
its 

inquiry 
upon 

the 
Procrustean 

bed 
of 

the 
FBI’s 

five-volume 
report. 

So 
anxious 

was 
the 

commission 
to 

adhere 
to 

the 
FBI’s 

hasty 
hodge-podge 

of 
data 

that 
Hoover’s 

eyes 
and 

ears 
inside 

the 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
,
 

C
o
n
g
r
e
s
s
m
a
n
 

Gerald 
Ford, 

soon 

p
r
o
m
i
s
e
d
 

a 
final 

R
e
p
o
r
t
 

for 
that 

winter."' 
In 

fact, 
those 

five 
FBI 

v
o
l
u
m
e
s
 

contained 
less 

than 
500 

w
o
r
d
s
 

on 
the 

m
u
r
d
e
r
 

itself, 
being 

almost 
entirely 

a 

psychological 
profile 

of 
Oswald 

with 
much 

biographical 
detail 

about 
his 

pre-Marine 
Corps 

youth. 
Then 

the 
FBI 

departed 
from 

its 
usual 

investigatory 

practice 
and 

drew, 
in 

effect, 
a 

judiciable 
conclusion: 

O
s
w
a
l
d
 

alone 
and 

unaided, 
for 

his 
own 

political 
and 

psychological 
motives, 

killed 
President 

Kennedy. 
Such 

a 
bold 

departure 
from 

set 
procedure 

shocked 
Rankin, 

the 

commission’s 
chief 

counsel,'? 
but 

his 
reaction 

did 
not 

prevent 
him 

from 

countenancing 
this 

and 
other 

revealing 
prejudgments. 

The 
list 

of 
these 

deliberate 
official 

manipulations 
of 

evidence 
is 

long 
and 

has 
been 

exposed 
elsewhere, 

but 
several 

examples 
urge 

at 
least 

passing 
notice. 

The 
FBI’s 

immediate 
Oswald 

fixation 
extended 

to 
the 

absurdly 
different 

ways 
with 

which 
they, 

and 
the 

commission’s 
agents, 

treated 
the 

two widows. 

Jacqueline 
Bouvier 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
,
 

an 
eye-and-ear 

witness 
to 

m
u
r
d
e
r
 

if 
there 

ever 

was 
one, 

was 
interviewed 

for 
about 

ten 
minutes 

six 
m
o
n
t
h
s
 

afterwards. 

M
a
r
i
n
a
 

O
s
w
a
l
d
,
 

w
h
o
 

was 
diapering 

daughters 
in 

Irving, 
Texas, 

w
h
e
n
 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

died, 
was 

put 
under 

FBI 
‘‘house 

arrest,’’ 
interrogated 

for 
weeks, 

and 
then 

m
a
d
e
 

into 
a 

star 
witness, 

testifying 
before 

news 
c
a
m
e
r
a
s
 

and 
in 

camera, 
to 

the 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

and 
later 

congressional 
committees. 

Then 
there 

were 
such 

FBI 
omissions 

as 
one 

of 
the 

bullet 
wounds 

on 
Presi-
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dent 
Kennedy's 

body, 
as 

well 
as 

any 
mention 

of 
Tague’s 

wound, 
both 

ex- 

cluded 
either 

through 
i
m
c
o
m
p
e
t
e
n
c
e
 

or 
by 

fear 
that 

such 
w
o
u
n
d
s
 

might 

require 
more 

than 
one 

assassin. 
In 

such 
ways 

did 
Hoover 

fulfill 
the 

Katzenbach- 

Moyers 
directive, 

leaving 
the 

Warren 
Commission 

to 
orchestrate 

it 
fully 

and 

publicly. 
The 

c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

clearly 
k
n
e
w
 

of 
continuing 

FBI 
attempts 

to 
m
o
n
o
p
o
l
i
z
e
 

all 
assassination 

inquiries. 
Dallas 

police 
and 

the 
Texas 

A
t
t
o
r
n
e
y
 
General’s 

office 
had 

been 
firmly, 

immediately 
squelched 

by 
the 

FBI, 
aided 

by 
Warren’s 

personal 
intervention.'? 

Even 
the 

Secret 
Service 

were 
left 

to 
watch 

from 
the 

sidelines. 
H
o
o
v
e
r
’
s
 

FBI 
obsessively 

sought 
control, 

not 
only 

occasionally 

hrough 
Gerald 

Ford 
but 

also 
in 

a 
general 

climate 
of 

trepidation 
that 

is 
n
o
w
 

x
n
o
w
n
 

to 
have 

d
e
v
e
l
o
p
e
d
 
a
m
o
n
g
 

the 
c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
e
r
s
.
 

On 
22 

J
a
n
u
a
r
y
 

1964, 

the 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 

panel 
held 

a 
secret 

executive 
session 

that 
w
o
u
l
d
 

surface 
only 

later 
in 

a 
stenolypist’s 

notes: 

Dulles: 
... 

Why 
would 

it 
be 

in 
their 

[FBI] 
interest 

to 
say 

he 
[Oswald] 

is 

clearly 
the 

only 
guilty 

one?. 
.. 

{Rankin]: 
They 

would 
like 

to 
have 

us fold 
up 

and 
quit. 

Boggs: 
This 

closes 
the 

case, 
you 

see. 
Don’t 

you 
see? 

Rankin: 
They 

found 
the 

man. 
There 

is 
nothing 

more 
to 

do. 
The 

commission 

, 
supports 

their 
conclusions, 

and 
we 

can 
go 

on 
h
o
m
e
 
and 

that is 
the 

e
n
d
o
f
i
t
.
.
.
.
 

Boggs: 
I don’t 

even 
like 

to 
see 

this 
being 

taken 
down. 

Dulles: 
Yes. 

I think 
this 

record 
ought 

to 
be 

destroyed."* 

The 
c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
’
s
 

control 
over 

its 
o
w
n
 

record, 
defeated 

by 
accidental 

sur- 

vival 
in 

this 
instance, 

did 
lead 

to 
other 

deliberate 
suppressions. 

For 
one 

iotorious 
example, 

two 
pages 

of 
Senator 

and 
Commissioner 

Russell’s 

dissent 
from 

the 
lone-assassin 

theory 
were 

e
x
p
u
n
g
e
d
,
 

which 
utterly 

enraged 

the 
terminally 

ill 
Russell 

w
h
e
n
 

he 
discovered 

it.'* 

The 
Warren 

Commission’s 
Report, 

then, 
remains 

of 
lingering 

paradoxical 

value. 
Although 

its 
conclusions 

bear 
little 

conviction 
and 

less 
credibility, 

it 
remains 

an 
invaluable 

catalogue 
for 

much 
of 

the 
murder 

case’s 
data, 

pro- 

vided 
that 

its 
users 

see 
it 

for 
what 

it 
is: 

the 
product 

of 
‘tan 

investigation 

which 
has 

satisfied 
the 

Commission 
that 

it 
has 

ascertained 
the 

truth 
con- 

cerning 
the 

assassination 
of 

President 
Kennedy. 

. 
. 

.’”'* 
Sadly 

for 
the 

com- 

mission’s 
historical 

status 
and 

even 
m
o
r
e
 

so 
for 

the 
truth 

itself, 
such 

satis- 

faction 
has 

proven 
contrivedly 

p
r
e
m
a
t
u
r
e
.
 

/ 
nase 

oo 

W
h
a
t
,
 

then, 
can 

a 
citizen 

k
n
o
w
 

about 
the m

u
r
d
e
r
 
o
f
 

President 
John 

F. 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
,
 

nearly 
two 

decades 
later? 

The 
past 

is 
always 

knowable 
only 

by 
present 

evidence, 
and 

we 
now 

have 

much 
more 

evidence 
than 

the 
Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

sought, 
selected, 

or 

considered.'’ 
For 

one 
thing, 

the 
sheer 

quantity 
of 

i
n
f
o
r
m
a
t
i
o
n
 

and 
opinion 

available 
has 

created 
a 
pressing 

problem, 
which 

this 
bibliography 

addresses 
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in 
Sections 

I 
and 

III. 
But 

this 
measures 

only 
the 

literary 
responses 

during 

the 
first 

sixteen 
years. 

Even 
the 

most 
astute 

inquirer 
can 

become 
lost 

on 
the 

m
o
u
n
t
a
i
n
 

of 
books, 

articles, 
and 

journalists’ 
reports, 

all 
shouting 

their 

explanations 
for 

the 
m
u
r
d
e
r
 

into 
valleys 

e
m
p
t
y
 

of 
evidence. 

U
n
f
o
r
t
u
n
a
t
e
l
y
,
 

most 
of 

this 
has 

created 
a 
cacophony 

of 
competing, 

often 
contradictory, 

echoes. 
Ultimate 

answers, 
when 

available, 
can 

be 
obtained 

only 
from 

the 

primary 
evidence, 

patiently 
and 

persistently 
accumulated. 

It 
is 

for 
this 

reason 

that 
all 

readers 
must 

first 
realize, 

by 
way 

of 
Section 

I, 
where 

most 
of 

the 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t
s
 

currently 
reside 

and 
h
o
w
 

difficult 
it 

has 
often 

been, 
by 

recourse 

to 
federal 

law 
courts, 

to 
extract 

that 
evidence 

from 
governmental 

agencies."* 

A
m
o
n
g
 
academic 

professionals 
in 

our 
society, 

historians 
ought 

to 
be 

the 

best 
trained 

for 
w
o
r
k
 

with 
the 

evidence. 
T
h
e
y
 
ought 

to 
c
o
m
b
i
n
e
 

reason 
and 

skepticism 
in 

their 
comprehensive 

perspective, 
in 

their 
attempt 

to 
pul 

a 
past 

man 
or a 

past 
event 

back 
together 

after 
dissection 

into 
parts 

by 
economists, 

lawyers, 
journalists, 

psychologists, 
scientists, 

litterateurs, 
moralists, 

and 
so 

on. 
But 

scholars 
generally, 

and 
our 

fellow 
historians 

particularly, 
have 

remained 
aloof 

from 
problems 

created 
by 

the 
JFK 

murder 
and 

subsequent 

investigations. 
Only 

the 
Regius 

Professor 
of 

Modern 
History 

at 
Oxford 

University, 
Hugh 

Trevor-Roper, 
offered 

professional 
scrutiny 

of 
Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

documents.'’ 
Since 

then, 
most 

historians 
have 

avoided 
the 

entire 
problem 

of 
evidence, 

accepting 
the 

published 
Warren 

Hearings 
as 

the 

sum 
total 

of 
obtainable 

data, 
while 

reasoned 
skepticism 

has 
been 

developed 

mainly 
by 

an 
ex-poultry 

farmer, 
several 

Washington 
lawyers, 

a 
Texas 

news- 

paper 
editor, 

two 
university 

philosophers, 
and 

several 
ex-graduate 

students. 

One 
reason 

that 
serious 

scholars 
have 

absented 
themselves 

from 
the 

assassination’s 
literature 

is 
the 

Warren 
Report’s 

preemption 
of 

the 
subject, 

with 
its 

simple 
verdict 

against 
one 

man 
“‘perpetually 

discontented 
with 

the 

world 
around 

him.’’?? 
Rather 

than 
closing 

the 
case, 

this 
verdict 

openly 

invited 
theories 

of 
conspiracy. 

Oswald 
having 

been 
found 

guilty, 
the 

burden 

of 
proof 

shifted 
so 

that 
doubters 

must 
first 

prove 
Oswald 

‘‘not 
guilty.’” 

To 

suggest 
this 

would 
raise 

the 
question 

“‘if 
not 

Oswald, 
then 

who 
did 

it?”’ 

Thus 
far, 

the 
best 

answer 
is 

that 
audio, 

ballistics, 
photographic, 

and 
eye- 

witness 
evidence 

gathered 
by 

and 
since 

the 
Warren 

Commission 
strongly 

suggests 
more 

than 
one 

gunman, 
which 

is 
all 

that 
the 

U.S. 
House 

Select 

Committee 
asserted 

in 
December 

1978.7 

A
l
t
h
o
u
g
h
 

it 
takes 

two 
or 

m
o
r
e
 

individuals 
to 

m
a
k
e
 

a 
conspiracy, 

at 

least 
in 

the 
eyes 

of 
the 

law, 
this 

does 
not 

necessarily 
mean 

that 
“‘more 

than 

one 
gunman’”’ 

equals 
a 

conspiracy 
in 

fact. 
It 

has 
been 

argued 
that 

Dealey 

Plaza 
that 

day 
attracted 

two 
or 

m
o
r
e
 

individuals 
a
r
m
e
d
 

and 
motivated 

in- 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
l
y
 

for 
the 

s
a
m
e
 

act.?? 
Unlikely 

as 
this 

m
a
y
 

be, 
the 

record 
of 

bitter 

political 
hatred 

enveloping 
places 

like 
Dallas 

in 
1963 

raises 
two 

immediate 

points: 
the 

fact 
of 

this 
violent 

climate 
is 

neutral 
to 

the 
question 

of 
conspiracy, 

but 
the 

entire 
matter 

remains 
the 

u
n
k
n
o
w
n
,
 

u
n
r
e
s
e
a
r
c
h
e
d
 

context 
for 

the 

murder 
itself. 

N
u
m
e
r
o
u
s
 
murder 

threats 
against 

President 
Kennedy 

came 
in
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the 
weeks 

preceding 
22 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

from 
groups 

active 
in 

that 
vicinity: 

the 

National 
States’ 

Rights 
party, 

the 
Minutemen, 

anti-Castro 
militants, 

reli- 

gious 
bigots, 

and 
other 

radical 
paramilitary, 

racialist 
organizations. 

Anti- 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

hysteria 
was 

hardly 
limited 

to 
Dallas. 

The 
president’s 

2 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

visit 
to 

Chicago 
was 

dropped 
because 

of 
local 

threats, 
and 

then 
his 

18 
No- 

vember 
motorcade 

through 
Miami 

had 
to 

be 
cancelled 

at 
the 

very 
last 

moment 

for 
similar 

reasons.” 
Neither 

the 
FBI 

nor 
the 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

investi- 

gators 
showed 

more 
than 

routine 
interest 

in 
such 

coincidences 
of 

fact: 
they 

were 
too 

busy 
reconstructing 

a 
left-wing 

psychological 
profile, 

focused 
on 

Oswald.?* 

The 
specter 

of 
some 

prearranged 
conspiracy 

easily 
haunts 

the 
case 

and 
its 

researchers, 
and 

it 
takes 

only 
the 

mere 
hint 

of 
conspiracy 

to 
drive 

most 

scholars 
away, 

into 
other 

topics. 
The 

w
o
r
d
 

itself 
c
o
n
n
o
t
e
s
 

a 
sort 

of 
intellec- 

tual 
bankruptcy, 

at 
least 

in 
the 

academic 
world 

and 
especially 

in 
this 

murder 

case, 
because 

other 
suspects 

have 
never 

been 
named. 

Explanations 
based 

on 

conspiracy 
are 

usually 
associated 

with 
irrational, 

prejudiced 
reactions, 

in 

sharp 
contrast 

to 
a 

prosecutor’s 
clear, 

scientific, 
dispassionate 

reconstruc- 

tion 
of 

homicidal 
fact. 

But 
after 

revelations 
about 

the 
workings 

of 
the 

Ku 

Klux 
Klan, 

A
m
e
r
i
c
a
n
 
corporations 

courting 
Nazi 

G
e
r
m
a
n
y
’
s
 

cartels, 
Water- 

gate, 
organized 

crime, 
C
I
A
 

vs. 
K
G
B
,
 

or 
effective 

fabrications 
like 

the 

Protocols 
of 

Zion, 
conspiracies 

seem 
to 

strain 
the 

modern 
credibility 

less. 

W
e
 

are 
c
o
n
v
i
n
c
e
d
 

that, 
in 

the 
J
F
K
 

case, 
t
w
o
 

conspiracies 
did 

exist. 
The 

first 
killed 

Kennedy 
and 

the 
second, 

conducted 
by 

essentially 
honorable 

men, 
has 

served 
to 

subvert 
and 

obscure 
this 

truth. 
The 

first 
was 

a 
con- 

spiracy 
a
m
o
n
g
 

individuals 
as 

yet 
unidentified. 

The 
second, 

an 
institutional 

conspiracy, 
grew 

from 
that 

mutually 
inclusive self-protective, 

group-protective 

identity 
that 

individuals 
can 

be 
expected 

to 
develop 

as 
m
e
m
b
e
r
s
 

of 
any 

c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 

or 
bureau. 

The 
W
h
i
t
e
 

H
o
u
s
e
,
 

the 
FBI, 

the 
Justice 

D
e
p
a
r
t
m
e
n
t
,
 

the 
Department 

of 
State, 

congressional 
committees, 

and 
even 

the 
National 

Archives, 
all 

under 
siege 

from 
public 

shock 
and 

skepticism 
after 

22 
November 

1963, 
quietly 

closed 
ranks 

within 
and 

a
m
o
n
g
 

their 
agencies 

in 
order 

to 

restore 
confidence 

at 
h
o
m
e
 
and 

abroad. 
Such 

a 
motive 

m
a
y
 
laudably 

justify 

members 
conspiring 

to 
reinforce 

national 
institutions, 

but 
the 

result 
has 

hardly 
served 

the 
muse 

Clio’s 
search 

for 
truth. 

We 
at 

no 
time 

wish 
to 

suggest 

that 
individuals 

in 
any 

and 
all 

agencies 
conspired 

among 
themselves. 

That 

would 
constitute 

individual 
conspiracy 

prosecutable 
at 

law. 
What 

we 
do 

conclude 
is 

that 
members 

of 
governmental 

institutions 
worked 

primarily 
to 

protect 
their 

own 
agencies 

and 
secondarily 

to 
sustain 

confidence 
in 

the 

federal 
government 

generally, 
with 

only 
a 

tertiary 
concern 

for 
solving 

this 

murder 
case. 

: 

The 
literature 

since 
Dallas, 

on 
the 

other 
hand, 

possesses 
a 
uniform 

impulse 

to 
resolve 

the 
crime 

and 
its 

attendant 
mysteries. 

Yet 
certain 

facts 
may 

never 

be 
known, 

thanks 
in 

large 
part 

to 
the 

institutional 
conspiracy 

begun 
by 

Introduction 
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FBI 
and 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

agents. 
W
h
y
 

did 
Oswald 

go 
to 

Mexico 
City 

that 
S
e
p
t
e
m
b
e
r
?
 
W
h
y
 

did 
O
s
w
a
l
d
 

go 
to 

the 
Texas 

Theater? 
W
h
y
 

was 
no 

tran- 

script 
made 

and 
preserved 

from 
Oswald’s 

twelve 
and 

more 
hours 

of 
police 

interrogation? 
H
o
w
 

did 
President 

Kennedy’s 
brain 

disappear 
after 

the 

Washington 
autopsy? 

Did 
law 

enforcement 
officers 

ever 
entertain 

explana- 

tions 
and 

suspects 
other 

than 
Oswald? 

We 
simply 

have 
no 

hard 
answers, 

to 

these 
and 

hundreds 
of 

other 
questions, 

although 
we 

now 
know 

that 
witnesses 

available 
at 

the 
time, 

who 
might 

have 
aided 

investigators, 
were 

either 
ignored 

or 
rudely 

rebuffed 
and 

a 
large 

amount 
of 

physical 
evidence 

was 
similarly 

treated. 
The 

impulse 
to 

resolve 
the 

crime 
continues 

in 
many 

often 
over-eager 

authors 
and 

despite 
so 

much 
culpable 

ignorance 
of 

actual 
evidence. 

The 
assassination’s 

literature 
can 

be 
divided 

into 
six 

categories: 
(1) 

works 

sustaining 
the 

official 
conclusions, 

(2) 
w
o
r
k
s
 

entirely 
irrational, 

(3) w
o
r
k
s
 

riddled 
with 

subjectivity 
and 

unsubstantiated 
theory, 

(4) 
the 

exploitative 

literature, 
(5) 

sinister 
publications, 

and 
(6) 

works 
focused 

on 
evidence 

about 

the 
murder 

that 
strive 

for 
objectivity. 

The 
first 

category 
includes 

both 
conventional 

and 
psychological 

w
o
r
k
s
 

sustaining 
official 

conclusions 
in 

the 
Warren 

Report. 
Conventional 

accounts, 

premised 
on 

Oswald’s 
guilt 

from 
start 

to 
finish, 

include 
David 

Belin’s 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

22, 
1963,7* 

Jim 
Bishop’s 

The 
D
a
y
 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

W
a
s
 
Shot,** W

i
l
l
i
a
m
 

Manchester’s 
The 

Death 
of 

a 
President,?’ 

Priscilla 
McMillan 

Johnson’s 

Marina 
and 

Lee,”* 
and 

diverse 
biographies 

of 
the 

Oswald 
family, 

memoirs 

of 
leading 

figures, 
and 

several 
minor 

studies 
on 

physical 
evidence 

from 
the 

crime. 
Typical 

of 
such 

articles 
are 

those 
by 

Dr. 
John 

K. 
Lattimer, 

a 
New 

York 
urologist,’ 

and 
Professor 

Luis 
Alvarez, 

a 
California 

Nobel 
Laureate 

in 
physics.’° 

The 
former, 

asserting 
authority 

in 
ballistics, 

proclaimed 
after 

studying 
the 

Warren 
Commission 

autopsy 
materials 

that 
they 

proved 
Oswald 

killed 
President 

Kennedy. 
From 

X-rays 
and 

photographs 
alone 

no 
one 

can 

determine 
who 

pulled 
any 

particular 
trigger. 

Lattimer 
conveniently 

ignored 

the 
bullet(s) 

associated 
with 

the 
wounding 

of 
citizen 

James 
T. 

Tague, 
evi- 

dence 
which 

in 
itself 

shatters 
the 

official 
findings.’ 

Alvarez 
studied 

thé 

Zapruder 
film 

and 
asserted 

that 
that 

evidence 
affirmed 

official 
findings 

of 

Oswald’s 
sole 

guilt. 
He 

too 
isolated 

the 
object 

of 
his 

study 
from 

contextual 

evidence, 
ignoring 

the 
trees 

that 
blocked 

the 
first 

shot, 
occurring 

around 

frame 
190, 

he 
claimed, 

and 
also 

ignoring 
Tague. 

In 
psychological 

studies 
the 

authors 
flee 

from 
the 

world 
of 

fact 
into 

the 

mental 
interstices 

of 
figures 

associated 
with 

the 
m
u
r
d
e
r
,
 

mainly 
the 

dead 

Lee 
Harvey 

Oswald. 
These 

accounts 
are 

found 
mainly 

in 
articles, 

but 
Renatus 

Hartogs’ 
and 

Lucy 
Freeman’s 

The 
Two 

Assassins” 
and 

Robert 
Thompson’s 

The 
Trial 

of 
Lee 

Harvey 
Oswald,” 

a 
screenplay 

for 
the 

American 
Broad- 

casting 
C
o
m
p
a
n
y
,
 

are 
representative 

b
o
o
k
 

titles. 
The 

former 
claimed 

to 

have 
‘studied’? 

Oswald’s 
fifth-grade 

report 
card, 

which 
indicated 

his 
men- 

tal 
instability 

and 
predisposition 

to 
kill 

Kennedy; 
but 

they 
did 

not 
present 
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a 
single 

fact 
in 

critical 
context 

to 
link 

Oswald 
to 

the 
murder. 

T
h
o
m
p
s
o
n
 

converted 
Jack 

Ruby 
into 

an 
All-American 

hero 
driven 

by 
noble 

motives. 

The 
truth, 

conveniently 
excised 

by 
T
h
o
m
p
s
o
n
 

and 
A
B
C
 

for 
the 

illusion, 

instead 
shows 

R
u
b
y
 

to 
be 

a 
“‘punk 

pining 
to 

be 
a 
h
o
o
d
,
’
 

c
o
n
s
u
m
e
d
 

by 

sensuality 
and 

crudity. 

The 
titles 

in 
the 

irrational 
category 

embrace 
every 

conceivable 
explanation 

that 
unbridled 

i
m
a
g
i
n
a
t
i
o
n
s
 
can 

conjure 
up. 

The 
m
o
r
e
 
o
u
t
r
a
g
e
o
u
s
 
e
x
a
m
p
l
e
s
 

include 
Pat 

Matteo, 
This 

Captive 
Land,” 

in 
which 

Kennedy 
is 

killed 
to 

prevent 
his 

escape 
from 

a 
miniature 

atomic 
b
o
m
b
;
 
T
h
o
t
h
n
u
 
T
a
s
t
m
o
n
a
,
 

Jt 
Is 

As 
If. 

. 
.,°* 

connects 
the 

case 
to 

origins 
with 

the 
nineteenth-century M

o
r
m
o
n
 

‘eader 
Brigham 

Young; 
and 

Bernard 
M. 

Bane, 
Is 

John 
F. 

Kennedy 
Alive 

_..,2? 
ponders 

that 
very 

question. 
Sybil 

Leek, 
whose 

credentials 
include 

being 
‘‘a 

certified 
witch,”’ 

wrote 
with 

Bert 
Sugar, 

The 
Assassination 

Chain, 
8 

in 
which 

an 
evil 

link 
is 

found 
among 

various 
political 

murders. 
Robert 

Shea 

and 
Robert 

A
n
t
o
n
 

Wilson, 
J
l
l
u
m
i
n
a
t
u
s
.
.
.
,
 

” 
seek 

an 
explanation 

in 

ancient 
Egypt. 

Neal 
Wilgus, 

Thé 
IMluminoids,‘*° 

finds 
the 

Order 
of 

the 

Illuminati, 
or 

m
a
s
o
n
i
c
 
conspiracy, 

behind 
the 

m
u
r
d
e
r
.
 

The 
irrational 

literature 
typically 

assumes 
the 

conclusions 
of 

the 
Warren 

Commission 
to 

be 
valid 

in 
terms 

of 
Oswald’s 

participation, 
but 

it 
seeks 

larger 
motives 

and 
devices 

that 
manipulated 

his 
lonesome 

act. 
Oswald’s 

guilt 
is constantly 

reaffirmed, 
when 

it 
should 

be 
questioned 

as 
rigorously 

as 

any 
other 

fact. 
The 

irrational 
publications 

often 
appeal 

to 
some 

pseudo- 

scientific 
fad 

in 
popular 

thought, 
like 

necromancy 
or 

astrology, 
and 

can 

usually 
be 

found 
in 

the 
supermarket 

newspapers. 
Lincoln 

Lawrence’s 
Were 

We 
Controlled?*' 

even 
argues 

that 
a 

posthypnotic 
suggestion 

triggered 

radio 
transmissions 

operating 
through 

a 
neurological 

implant 
in 

the 
robot 

Oswald, 
causing 

him 
to 

kill 
Kennedy. 

William 
Smith’s 

Assassination 
by 

‘ 
onsensus*’ 

sinks 
in 

the 
s
a
m
e
 

water, 
arguing 

that 
‘‘psychic 

displacement’’ 

operated 
by 

a 
mastermind 

worked 
its 

design 
through 

more 
inferior minds. 

All 
of 

this, 
of 

course, 
drifts 

well 
beyond 

James 
Bond’s 

world 
of 

evil 
con- 

spiracies 
into 

s
o
m
e
 

sort 
of 

certifiable 
m
a
d
n
e
s
s
.
 

The 
subjective 

category 
includes 

the 
literature 

of 
those 

who 
dissent 

from 

the 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
’
s
 

findings 
and 

have 
tried, 

at 
least, 

to 
wrestle 

with 

problems 
of 

evidence 
pertinent 

to 
the 

murder 
itself. 

Such 
writers 

do 
not 

blindly 
accept 

the 
official 

version 
and 

do 
s
h
o
w
 
s
o
m
e
 

critical 
analysis, 

but 

their 
literature 

remains 
saddled 

by 
theoretical 

a
s
s
u
m
p
t
i
o
n
s
 
and 

their 
funda- 

mental 
question 

puts 
the 

w
h
o
 

before 
the 

what. 
The 

p
r
i
m
e
 

uestion, 
we 

insist, 
is still: 

what 
happened 

on 
Dealey 

Plaza 
on 

22 
Noyeinter 

£963? 
After 

that 
factual 

base 
c
o
m
e
s
 

the 
question 

‘twho 
shot 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
?
”
’
 

W
e
 

must 
re- 

luctantly 
concede 

that 
we 

may 
never 

know 
the 

answer 
with 

reasonable 

certitude. 

This 
third 

category, 
the 

subjective, 
can 

be 
broken 

into 
several 

subgroups. 

One 
theorizes 

that 
the 

murder 
was 

the 
work 

of 
the 

international 
C
o
m
m
u
n
i
s
t
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movement, 
although 

proponents 
often 

differ 
as 

to 
the 

methods 
employed. 

In 
Carlos 

Bringuier’s 
Red 

Friday” 
and 

in 
Revilo 

P. 
Oliver’s 

series 
of 

articles,“* 

Oswald 
is 

simply 
a C

o
m
m
u
n
i
s
t
 

agent. 
Michael 

Eddowes, 
The 

Oswald 
File, 

”’ 

changes 
the 

emphasis 
and 

baldly 
asserts 

that 
his 

exhaustive 
search 

of 
all 

documents 
proves 

that 
JFK’s 

killer 
was 

a 
Soviet 

fake 
sent 

into 
America 

to 

fulfill 
diabolical 

ends. 
All 

such 
works 

beg 
the 

two 
questions 

that 
ought 

to 
be 

put 
first: 

What 
is 

the 
evidence 

implicating 
Oswald? 

Does 
any 

of 
it 

connect 

any 
Oswald 

to 
the 

murder? 

Edward 
Jay 

Epstein’s 
Legend** 

continues 
to 

exploit 
the 

Oswald 
theme, 

modifying 
it to 

make 
him 

a 
Soviet 

agent 
converted 

to 
spying 

while 
stationed 

in 
Japan. 

To 
carry 

forward 
this 

thesis, 
Epstein 

ignores 
his 

critics 
as 

well 
as 

nonconforming 
court 

records. 
For 

example, 
to 

make 
Oswald 

a 
defector 

to 

his 
new 

Soviet 
masters, 

Epstein 
reports 

that 
he 

left 
London 

on 
9 

October 

1959 
to 

reach 
Finland 

on 
the 

10th. 
But 

according 
to 

the 
passport 

stamps, 
he 

actually 
left 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 

on 
the 

10th 
and 

arrived 
in 

Finland 
on 

the 
10th, 

a 
feat 

impossible 
according 

to 
all 

contemporary 
commercial 

airline 
schedules 

but 

not 
beyond 

the 
fertile 

machinations 
of 

American 
intelligence 

agencies. 

Like 
Bringuier, 

Oliver, 
Eddowes, 

and 
others, 

Epstein 
attempts 

to 
h
a
m
m
e
r
 

into 
the 

public 
mind 

the 
assertion 

without 
proof 

that 
Oswald 

killed 
Kennedy. 

There 
is 

a 
substantial 

subgroup 
of 

theorists 
who 

try 
to 

prove, 
from 

the 

other 
side 

of 
the 

political 
spectrum, 

that 
the 

C
I
A
 

killed 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
.
 

Michael 

Canfield 
and 

Alan 
W
e
b
e
r
m
a
n
’
s
 
C
o
u
p
 

d’Etat,”” 
Fletcher 

Prouty’s 
The 

Secret 

Team,** 
and 

Sid 
Blumenthal 

and 
Harvey 

Yazijian’s 
G
o
v
e
r
n
m
e
n
t
 

by 
Gun- 

play’’ 
represent 

this 
evidence-stretching 

effort. 
Aside 

from 
numerous 

fac- 

tual 
errors 

and 
repeated 

distortions 
of 

evidence, 
the 

characteristic 
feature 

of 

this 
subgroup 

is 
their 

avoidance 
of 

the 
actual 

murder 
and 

of 
its 

bungled 

police 
investigation. 

Their 
hot 

chase 
after 

the 
CIA 

chimera 
is 

often 
con- 

nected 
with 

another 
subgroup 

of 
subjective 

writers. 

Did 
organized 

crime 
kill 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
?
 

This 
theory 

always 
had 

its 
followers, 

but 
beginning 

in 
the 

mid-1970s 
a 

series 
of 

volumes 
appeared 

that 
purported 

to 
find 

proofs, 
including 

those 
connected 

to 
Judith 

C
a
m
p
b
e
l
l
 

Exner. 
Typical 

expressions 
are 

Peter 
Noyes, 

L
e
g
a
c
y
 

of 
Doubt,*° 

Seth 
Kantor’s 

W
h
o
 

W
a
s
 

Jack 
Ruby?,*' 

the 
Assassination 

Information 
Bureau’s 

Clandestine 
Amer- 

ica,*? 
and 

Peter 
Dale 

Scott’s 
Crime 

and 
Cover-Up.” 

Organized 
crime 

has 

become 
America’s 

“diabolus 
ex 

machina, 
”’ released 

in 
times 

of 
heightened 

public 
awareness 

to 
explain 

major 
crimes 

and 
minor 

social 
ailments. 

Elusive, 

without 
structure, 

and 
without 

a 
single 

body 
of 

facts, 
the 

accusation 
never- 

theless 
finds 

most 
recent, 

albeit 
partial, 

e
n
d
o
r
s
e
m
e
n
t
 

in 
the 

U.S. 
H
o
u
s
e
 

Select 
C
o
m
m
i
t
t
e
e
 

on 
Assassination’s 

Final 
R
e
p
o
r
t
.
”
 

Still 
another 

subgroup 
in 

subjectivity 
makes 

Chief 
Justice 

Earl 
Warren 

the 
malefactor, 

distorting 
all 

evidence 
to 

make 
this 

wish 
come 

true. 
The 

two 
best 

examples 
are 

Edward 
Jay 

Epstein’s 
Inquest} 

and 
Mark 

Lane’s 

Rush 
to 

Judgment.** 
Presented 

to 
the 

uninformed 
as 

a 
work 

of 
dispassionate
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scholarly 
dissent, 

Jnquest 
actually 

upholds 
the 

basic 
findings 

of 
the 

Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

by 
dismissing 

its 
failures 

as 
the 

fault 
of 

its 
chairman, 

who 

allegedly 
went 

against 
the 

findings 
of 

his 
own 

staff 
and 

the 
FBI. 

Epstein 

used 
FBI 

reports 
as 

well 
as 

the 
files 

of 
some 

staff 
members 

in 
his 

attack. 

This 
brief 

and 
fierce 

polemic 
actually 

exculpates 
Hoover’s 

Bureau, 
although 

that 
may 

not 
have 

been 
Epstein’s 

intent. 

Lane’s 
Rush 

to 
Judgment 

provides 
a 

classic 
example 

of 
subjective 

gim- 

mickry, 
with 

its 
scholarly 

cosmetic 
of 

4,500 
footnotes, 

containing 
hundreds 

of 
substantial 

errors 
and 

repetitions. 
Quotations 

within 
the 

text 
have 

been 

quietly 
changed 

in 
over 

two 
hundred 

instances 
from 

original 
documentary 

versions; 
important 

material 
has 

been 
excised 

from 
the 

evidence 
in 

crder 
to 

highlight 
the 

trivial 
or 

to 
mislead. 

Ultimately 
the 

book 
charges 

Warren 
with 

the 
crime 

of 
cover-up, 

while 
exonerating 

the 
FBI. 

For 
example, 

one 
entire 

chapter, 
based 

on 
the 

testimony 
of 

Nancy 
Perrin 

Rich, 
who 

worked 
in 

Ruby’s 
night 

club, 
pretends 

proof 
of 

an 
O
s
w
a
l
d
-
R
u
b
y
 

link. 
Lane 

never 

noted 
that 

Rich 
gave 

three 
entirely 

different 
sets 

of 
testimony 

to 
investiga- 

tors, 
that 

she 
suffered 

several 
mental 

b
r
e
a
k
d
o
w
n
s
,
 

and 
that 

she 
had 

habitually 

appeared 
at 

famous 
trials 

offering 
to 

testify.” 

One 
further 

subgroup 
has 

sifted 
the 

facts 
through 

a 
left-wing 

sieve 
to 

conclude 
that 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

died 
as 

a 
result 

of 
a 
right-wing 

conspiracy. 
Excellent 

illustrations 
of 

this 
subjectivity 

imposed 
upon 

reality 
are: 

Jim 
Garrison’s 

Heritage 
of 

Stone,?* 
M
o
r
t
 

Sahl’s 
Heartland, 

*” 
Carl 

Oglesby’s 
C
o
w
b
o
y
 
and 

Yankee 
W
a
r
,
®
 

and 
the 

later 
writings 

of 
J
o
a
c
h
i
m
 

Joesten.*' 
H
u
g
h
 
M
c
D
o
n
a
l
d
,
 

A
p
p
o
i
n
t
m
e
n
t
 

in 
Dallas,® 

posits 
a 

mysterious 
person 

lurking 
in 

another 

building 
who 

actually 
shot 

Kennedy 
and 

then 
framed 

Oswald 
as 

the 
‘‘patsy”” 

O
s
w
a
l
d
 

claimed 
to 

be 
w
h
e
n
 

interrogated. 
Richard 

P
o
p
k
i
n
’
s
 

The 
S
e
c
o
n
d
 

Oswald® 
plausibly 

assumes 
that 

a 
man 

posing 
as 

Oswald 
laid 

a 
track 

of 

d
a
m
a
g
i
n
g
 

evidence 
a
r
o
u
n
d
 

Dallas 
in 

the 
weeks 

before 
the 

m
u
r
d
e
r
.
 

The 

evidence 
in 

no 
way 

precludes 
such 

an 
Oswald 

counterfeit, 
but 

Popkin’s 

explanation 
still 

rests 
on 

acceptance 
of 

the 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
’
s
 

assertion 

of 
the 

real 
Oswald’s 

role. 
Popkin 

more 
accurately 

might 
have 

entitled 
his 

valuable 
book 

‘‘The 
Fake 

Oswald.”” 

The 
fourth 

category, 
the 

exploiters, 
identifies 

a 
p
h
e
n
o
m
e
n
o
n
 

extant 
since 

the 
week 

of 
the 

murder, 
ranging 

from 
the 

greedy 
merchants 

of 
grief, 

ped- 

dling 
JFK 

memorabilia, 
to 

the 
publishing 

financiers 
making 

ceaseless 
pro- 

motions 
of 

the 
official 

findings. 
The 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 
orchestrated 

five 

private 
publishers 

for 
versions 

of 
its 

Report,** 
coordinating 

the 
official 

release 
to 

m
a
k
e
 
m
a
x
i
m
u
m
 

impact 
and profits. 

T
h
e
 first 

exploiters, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r
,
 

_were 
Kennedy 

hagiographers 
who 

flooded 
the 

nation 
with 

special-edition 

n
e
w
s
p
a
p
e
r
s
,
 

tabloids, 
trinkets, 

c
o
m
m
e
m
o
r
a
t
i
v
e
 

books, 
and 

m
e
m
o
r
i
a
l
 

volumes. 
Reprints, 

collector’s 
specials, 

and 
glossy 

inserts 
fell 

in 
scores 

from 

the 
national 

journals 
and 

local 
newspapers, 

none 
at 

reduced 
prices. 

Four 

Days 
in 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
,
*
 
assembled 

by 
the 

editors 
of 

United 
Press 

International   
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and 
American 

Heritage 
Publishing 

C
o
m
p
a
n
y
,
 
contained 

lavish 
color 

photo- 

graphs 
and 

an 
inaccurate 

text. 
Its 

sales 
copies 

reached 
into 

the 
hundreds 

of 

thousands, 
with 

additional 
income 

derived 
from 

their 
record 

promotion 

and 
a 

movie 
spin-off. 

The 
entire 

success 
story 

bore 
the 

marks 
of 

a 
necro- 

philiac 
sell 

by 
an 

advertising 
agency: 

a 
garish, 

tasteless 
celebration 

of 
sacrificial 

death. 
Similar 

ventures 
served 

publishers 
well 

in 
packaging 

and 
selling 

the 

‘“‘martyred’’ 
president 

to 
the 

public. 

From 
a 

long 
list 

of 
the 

publishing 
industry’s 

promotional 
books, 

The 

Death 
of 

a 
President 

by 
William 

Manchester 
exemplifies 

best 
their 

impact 

and 
the 

sheer 
gall 

of 
their 

commercialism.** 
The 

book 
is 

perhaps 
what 

Norman 
Mailer 

means 
by 

“faction,” 
because 

it 
certainly 

is 
not 

history 
based 

on 
evidence 

and 
professionalism. 

One 
promotional 

tease 
after 

another, 
with 

a 
stream 

of 
prepublication 

press 
releases, 

was 
coupled 

with 
regular 

tele- 

vision 
news 

coverage 
once 

the 
Kennedys 

intervened. 
Despite 

reviewers 
and 

critics 
who 

treated 
it 

mercilessly, 
media 

magic 
transformed 

this 
error-laden 

volume 
into 

a 
sort 

of 
popular 

truth. 
In 

fact, 
it 

was 
little 

more 
than 

a 
narra- 

tive 
skeleton 

of 
the 

Warren 
Report, 

fleshed 
out 

with 
numerous 

insider 

interviews. 

Like 
wolves 

a
m
o
n
g
 

ewes, 
major 

publishing 
houses 

have 
indiscriminately 

worked 
the 

entire 
fold, 

lavishly 
also 

promoting 
various 

books 
by 

Warren 

Report 
dissenters. 

The 
books 

by 
Anson, 

M
c
D
o
n
a
l
d
,
 

and 
O’Toole 

exemplify 

this, 
with 

regional 
radio 

and 
newspaper 

saturation 
promising 

new 
dis- 

coveries 
and 

proofs. 
Hugh 

McDonald, 
in 

A
p
p
o
i
n
t
m
e
n
t
 

in 
Dallas, 

claimed 

to 
have 

interviewed 
the 

real 
assassin. 

His 
original 

manuscript 
had 

this 
real 

assassin 
hiding 

in 
a 

judge’s 
chambers 

overlooking 
Dealey 

Plaza, 
but 

the 

published 
b
o
o
k
 

put 
him 

at 
a 

w
i
n
d
o
w
 

in 
a 

w
o
m
e
n
’
s
 

restroom.*’ 
Similar 

wizardry 
reached 

its 
most 

sophisticated 
exploitation 

with 
George 

O’Toole’s 

The 
Assassination 

Tapes.** 
The 

book 
was 

actively 
marketed 

by 
the 

company 

m
a
n
u
f
a
c
t
u
r
i
n
g
 

an 
‘‘evaluator 

machine,’’ 
which 

s
u
p
p
o
s
e
d
l
y
 
m
e
a
s
u
r
e
d
 

voice 

patterns 
for 

covert 
stress 

to 
prove 

that 
a 
conspiracy 

killed 
Kennedy. 

With- 

numerous 
major 

errors 
O’Toole 

employed 
the 

faulty 
machine 

to 
test old 

video 
and 

audio 
tapes 

of 
witnesses 

to 
conclude 

that 
Oswald 

was 
framed. 

Police 
and 

sheriffs’ 
departments 

across 
the 

land 
received 

advertisements 

for 
the 

instrument 
that 

had 
allegedly 

solved 
the 

crime 
of 

the 
century. 

But 

even 
this 

is child’s 
play 

compared 
with 

the 
antics 

of 
Mark 

Lane. 

T
w
o
 
books, 

two 
films, 

lectures, 
records, 

and 
articles 

have 
kept 

pace with 

sixteen 
years 

of 
changing 

fads 
in 

popular 
consciousness. 

W
h
e
n
 

initial 
public 

skepticism 
focused 

on 
Chief 

Justice 
Warren, 

Lane’s 
Rush 

to 
Judgment 

crudely 
misquoted 

documents, 
gave 

inaccurate 
footnotes, 

and 
skillfully 

selected 
facts 

literally 
to 

frame 
Warren.*? 

W
h
e
n
 

Garrison’s 
investigation 

in 

New 
Orleans 

captured 
national 

headlines, 
Lane 

adjusted 
his 

writings 
and 

lectures 
with 

broad 
assertions 

that 
he 

was 
the 

district 
attorney’s 

confidant.” 

At 
the 

height 
of 

student 
unrest, 

L
a
n
e
 

staffed 
a 

booth 
at 

collegiate 
fairs,
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pushing 
his 

literature 
and 

his 
lecturing 

services 
to 

youthful 
minds 

seeking 
a 

better 
world.”’ 

W
h
e
n
 

exposés 
of 

the 
CIA 

began 
piling 

up 
in 

the 
late 

1960s, 

Lane’s 
articles 

and 
speeches 

discovered 
that 

Kennedy 
had 

really 
been 

killed 

by 
the 

CIA.”? 
W
h
e
n
 

political 
and 

media 
winds 

shifted 
in 

the 
early 

1970s 

against 
the 

late 
J. 

Edgar 
Hoover’s 

FBI, 
Lane 

found 
proofs 

of 
FBI 

guilt.” 

This 
only 

begins 
to 

document 
Lane 

as 
the 

leading 
opportunist 

in 
the 

sorry 

literary 
history 

of 
this 

murder 
mystery. 

: 

InA 
Citizen’s 

Dissent, 
Lane 

alleged 
that 

the 
British 

Broadcasting 
Com- 

pany 
did 

not 
pay 

him 
a 

‘‘single 
farthing’ 

when, 
in 

fact, 
he 

had 
received 

one 
of 

their 
largest 

fees, 
over 

$40,000.74 
W
h
e
n
 

he 
co-produced, 

with 
Emile 

de 
Antonio, 

the 
film 

version 
of 

Rush 
to 

Judgment, 
he 

pirated 
its 

sound 

track, 
provoking 

litigation 
by 

his 
irate 

co-producer.”7 
W
h
e
n
 

Lane 
put 

Donald 
Freed 

to 
work 

on a jointly 
written 

novel, 
Executive 

Action,” 
he 

knew 
they 

were 
exploiting 

an 
excellent 

plot 
line. 

Lane 
had 

been 
in 

New 

Orleans 
when 

the 
typescript 

for 
the 

James 
Hepburn 

book 
Farewell 

America 

had 
been 

delivered 
to 

District 
Attorney 

Garrison 
by 

Herve 
L
a
m
a
r
r
e
,
 

a 

person 
associated 

with 
French 

intelligence.”” 
As 

of 
1975, 

the 
filmed 

version 

of 
Executive 

Action 
had 

earned 
$15,000,000.”" 

Only 
Lane’s 

initial 
article, 

published 
in 

December 
1963 

in 
the 

National 

Guardian, 
written 

with 
that 

weekly’s 
editorial 

aid, 
contributed 

substantially 

to 
data 

publicly 
available 

immediately 
after 

the 
murder.” 

But 
his 

credibility 

- began 
to 

collapse 
soon 

after, 
as 

he 
offered 

himself 
to 

any 
bidder 

as 
the 

instant 
JFK 

expert, 
whether 

on 
campus 

OF 
in 

Congress. 
Perhaps 

in 
this 

case 

the 
CIA 

got 
it 

right 
when 

their 
secret 

study 
of 

Warren 
Report 

critics 
con- 

cluded 
that 

Lane 
instinctively 

went 
for 

the 
capillaries, 

not 
the 

jugular.”° 
The 

CIA 
obviously 

saw 
no 

adversarial 
threat 

from 
Lane’s 

limited 
vision 

and 

faulty 
scholarship, 

but 
he 

has 
served 

governmental 
agencies 

well 
by 

ob- 

curing 
basic 

evidence, 
upstaging 

serious 
researchers, 

publicizing 
tan- 

gential 
issues, 

and 
generally 

avoiding 
anything 

that 
required 

hard 
work 

for 

no 
profit 

and 
little 

publicity."' 

Our 
fifth 

category, 
labeled 

sinister, 
includes 

those 
publications 

about 
the 

m
u
r
d
e
r
 

that 
focus 

on 
intelligence-gathering 

agencies 
and, 

in 
s
o
m
e
 

cases, 

were 
written 

under 
their 

surreptitious 
sponsorship. 

These 
include 

Camille 

Gilles’ 
400,000 

. 
. 

. 
, 

but 
the 

foremost 
example 

is 
James 

Hepburn’s Farewell 

America, 
published 

in 
Liechtenstein 

in 
1968, 

printed 
in 

Belgium, 
and 

dis- 

tributed 
in 

Canada," 
but 

not 
in 

the 
United 

States, 
by 

individuals 
associated 

with 
S
D
E
C
E
,
 

France’s 
CIA. 

With 
potential 

libels 
on 

eve 
ther 

page, 
the 

author 
(or 

authors?) 
allege 

collaboration 
between 

right- 
ing 

oilmen 
and 

rogue 
CIA 

elements 
for 

the 
Kennedy 

kill. 
“Commentaries 

on 
the 

book 

demonstrate 
little 

critical 
awareness 

and 
no 

comprehensive 
knowledge 

of 

the 
evidence 

and 
usually 

end 
up 

embracing 
the 

book’s 
assumptions. W

a
r
r
e
n
 

Hinckle’s 
articles 

and 
one 

chapter 
in 

his 
If 

You 
Have 

a 
L
e
m
o
n
.
.
.
 

display 

an 
intimate 

knowledge 
of 

the 
book, 

but 
the 

chronology 
as 

well 
as essential 

facts 
are 

in 
fundamental 

error.” 
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The 
works 

of 
critics 

responsible 
to 

the 
evidence 

and 
to 

the 
truth 

comprise 

our 
final 

category 
of 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

murder-literature. 
These 

authors 
show 

knowl- 

edge 
of 

the 
complex 

factual 
base, 

the 
duty 

to 
treat 

the 
murder 

objectively 

and 
without 

distraction, 
and 

the 
need 

to 
stay 

free 
from 

theoretical 
distor- 

tions. 
This 

category 
can 

be 
subdivided 

b
e
t
w
e
e
n
 

those 
early 

authors 
writing 

before 
the 

official 
published 

findings 
of 

the 
Warren 

Commission 
and 

those 

later 
researchers 

w
h
o
 

started 
from 

the 
findings 

and 
evidence 

of 
the 

c
o
m
m
i
s
-
 

sion 
in 

launching 
their 

studies. 

The 
early 

writers 
published 

a 
few 

articles, 
including 

the 
Mark 

Lane 
effort 

noted 
earlier, 

and 
three 

books: 
Thomas 

Buchanan’s 
Who 

Killed Kennedy?," 

Joachim 
Joesten’s 

Oswald: 
Assassin 

or 
Fall 

Guy,*? 
and 

Leo 
Sauvage’s 

The 

Oswald 
Affair.*® 

They 
remain 

substantially 
sound 

within 
the 

context 
of 

pre-Warren 
Report 

materials, 
and 

each 
is 

based 
on 

painstaking 
research 

and 
analytical 

argument, 
but 

all 
bear 

the 
subconscious 

marks 
of 

a 
pressing 

controversy 
and 

the 
murder 

of 
an 

u
n
c
o
m
m
o
n
 

man. 
They 

are 
essential 

reading 
for 

anyone 
interested 

in 
the 

mystery 
itself 

or 
in 

the 
mystery’s 

later 

history. 

After 
publication 

of 
the 

Warren 
Report, 

critics 
produced 

various 
articles, 

short 
studies 

and 
books, 

the 
most 

valuable 
being 

the 
works 

of 
Sylvia 

Meagher, 

Harold 
Weisberg, 

and 
H
o
w
a
r
d
 

Roffman. 
There 

are 
also 

many 
valuable 

articles 
and 

book 
reviews 

in 
the 

monthly 
journal 

The 
Minority 

of 
One. 

R
a
y
m
o
n
d
 
Marcus 

published 
a 

short 
m
o
n
o
g
r
a
p
h
 

The 
Bastard 

Bullet, 
which 

carefully 
analyzed 

the 
Zapruder 

film 
and 

remains 
a 

minor 
classic 

for 
its 

objectivity.” 
Sylvia 

Meagher’s 
Subject 

Index 
to 

the 
Warren 

Commission’s 

volumes 
has 

given 
students 

their 
essential 

tool 
for 

mastering 
that 

wilderness 

of 
published 

evidence." 
It 

was 
her 

Accessories 
after 

the 
Fact, 

though, 
that 

provided 
a 
model 

for 
scholarly 

method.® 
It 

carefully 
scrutinized 

the 
Report 

and 
the 

twenty-six 
volumes, 

making 
orderly 

sense 
of 

the 
chaotic 

official 

evidence 
and 

providing 
intelligent, 

critical 
commentaries. 

Weisberg’s 
Whitewash, 

addressed 
to 

the 
general 

public, 
demonstrated 

that 
the 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

failed 
because 

it 
accepted 

unquestioningly 
the 

theory, 
largely 

manufactured 
by 

the 
FBI, 

that 
Oswald 

killed 
the president.”° 

Weisberg 
had 

served 
in 

the 
1930s 

as 
an 

investigator 
for 

a 
Senate 

committee 

uncovering 
American 

fascist 
penetration 

of 
the 

government 
and 

Nazi 

influence 
in 

the 
Americas. 

During 
World 

War 
Il 

he 
had 

been 
with 

the 
Office 

of 
Strategic 

Services 
and 

had 
also 

w
o
r
k
e
d
 

as 
an 

analyst 
for 

the 
State 

De- 

partment. 
Weisberg 

coupled 
this 

experience 
with 

his 
firm 

belief 
that 

the 

original 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t
s
 

ought 
to 

serve 
as 

the 
base 

u
p
o
n
 

which 
to 

build 
an 

account 
of 

the 
murder. 

. 

Weisberg 
has 

persisted 
in 

his 
attack, 

publishing 
Whitewash 

II, 
Photo- 

graphic 
Whitewash, 

Whitewash 
IV, 

Oswald 
in 

New 
Orleans, 

and 
Post 

Mortem.”' 
This 

last 
volume, 

published 
privately 

as 
were 

all 
but 

two, 
gives 

an 
unparalleled 

examination 
of 

the 
evidence 

relating 
to 

the 
JFK 

autopsy, 

with 
hundreds 

of 
pages 

of 
docunients 

photographically 
reproduced. 

All 
of 

- 
a 

sepotin 
t
e
n
e
r
 
e
e
e
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his, 
plus 

his 
score 

of 
F
O
I
A
 

suits, 
m
a
k
e
s
 
W
e
i
s
b
e
r
g
 

the 
premier 

authority, 

ind 
even 

governmental 
agents 

who 
are 

most 
annoyed 

by 
him 

must 
consult 

lis 
work. 

R
o
f
f
m
a
n
’
s
 
P
r
e
s
u
m
e
d
 

Guilty 
defined 

the 
autopsy 

and 
ballistic 

evidence 

o 
show 

that 
the 

commission 
could 

not 
link 

Oswald 
to 

the 
crime 

with 
such 

evidence, 
given 

the 
questions 

asked 
and 

the 
techniques 

that 
they 

employed. 

[he 
metallic 

f
r
a
g
m
e
n
t
s
 

inside 
the 

president 
and 

the 
f
r
a
g
m
e
n
t
s
 

of 
bullets 

yutside 
his 

body 
were 

not 
matched, 

despite 
the 

existence 
of 

several 
scientific 

ests 
that 

could 
have 

done 
so 

conclusively.”? 
‘ 

The 
single 

most 
important 

characteristic 
making 

these 
critics 

responsible 

- 
their 

c
o
m
m
o
n
 

goal 
to 

define, 
secure, 

and 
expose 

documentary 
evidence 

n 
this 

murder 
case, 

most 
of 

which 
governmental 

agencies 
choose 

to 
keep 

controlled 
and 

secret. 
Much 

has 
been 

accomplished 
by 

lawsuits 
brought 

ander 
the 

F
r
e
e
d
o
m
 

of 
I
n
f
o
r
m
a
t
i
o
n
 

Act, 
mostly 

by 
H
a
r
o
l
d
 
W
e
i
s
b
e
r
g
 
and 

his 

egal 
counsel, 

James 
H. 

Lesar. 
These 

suits, 
at 

the 
very 

least, 
force 

agencies 

aut 
of 

their 
ordinary 

cocoons 
of 

self-regulating, 
hence 

publicly 
irresponsible, 

b
u
r
e
a
u
c
r
a
c
y
 

into 
open 

legal 
and 

judicial 
accountability. 

This 
process 

has 

also 
blocked 

the 
destruction 

or 
dispersal 

of 
countless 

files 
and 

preserved 

h
u
n
d
r
e
d
s
 

of 
cubic 

feet 
of 

basic 
evidence, 

to 
be 

placed 
before 

the 
public. 

Section 
I 

of 
our 

bibliography 
provides 

detailed 
briefs 

of 
the 

sort 
of 

litigation 

required, 
showing 

the 
extraordinary 

difficulties 
that 

federal 
agencies 

and 

bureaucratically 
supportive 

federal 
judges 

can 
create 

for 
ordinary 

citizens. 

One 
important 

published 
example 

of 
such 

documents 
is 

David 
R. 

Wrone’s 

Legal 
P
r
o
c
e
e
d
i
n
g
s
.
.
.
 

, 
based 

on 
evidence 

that 
Federal 

Civil 
Action 

2052-73 

forced 
from 

federal 
files.” 

In 
this 

context 
of 

misplaced 
bureaucratic 

self-preservation, 
no 

one 
ought 

to 
be 

surprised 
to 

learn 
that 

the 
latest 

congressional 
reopening 

of 
the 

JFK 

irder 
case 

ignored 
much 

of 
the 

mass 
of 

materials 
compiled 

outside 
of 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

evidence. 
The 

House 
Select 

Committee 
on Assassina- 

tions 
paid 

virtually 
no 

attention 
to 

evidence 
brought 

into 
the 

public 
domain 

by 
Freedom 

of 
Information 

Act 
litigation 

and 
shunned 

contact 
with 

re- 

sponsible 
critics. 

Their 
entire 

investigation 
showed 

a 
marked 

preference 
for 

a 
selection 

of 
highly 

visible 
witnesses 

rather 
than 

for 
the 

documentary 

evidence 
and 

those 
few 

experts 
who 

know 
it 

best. 
We 

therefore 
must 

con- 

clude 
our 

r
e
m
a
r
k
s
 

with 
a 

brief 
analysis 

of 
this 

most 
recent: 

official 
report 

on 
President 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
’
s
 
death. 

On 
22 

July 
1979, 

after 
a 
s
i
x
-
m
o
n
t
h
 

delay, 
the 

H
o
u
s
e
 
S
e
l
e
c
t
,
C
o
m
 

nittee 
on 

Assassinations 
issued 

the 
Final 

Report 
of 

its 
two-year 

investigation 
into 

the 

murders 
of 

President 
John 

F. 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
 

and 
Dr. 

Martin 
Luther 

King, 
Jr. 

The 

686-page 
paperback 

official 
printing 

is 
divided 

into 
five 

parts: 
Part 

1 
con- 

tains 
261 

pages 
on 

the 
murder 

of 
Kennedy; 

Part 
Il 

has 
250 

pages 
on 

the 

murder 
of 

King; 
Part 

III 
is 

twenty 
pages 

of 
recommendations; 

Part 
IV 

is 

thirty 
pages 

of 
separate 

remarks 
by 

committee 
members, 

including 
the 

Introduction 
xxvii 

important 
dissent 

by 
Rep. 

Christopher 
Dodd; 

and 
Part 

V 
is 

171 
pages 

of 

appendices 
and 

references.”* 

One 
week 

prior 
to 

official 
publication, 

G. 
Robert 

Blakey, 
chief 

counsel 

for 
the 

H
S
C
A
,
 

gave 
the 

B
a
n
t
a
m
 

Publishing 
C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 

an 
exclusive 

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

copy 
and 

received 
$3,000 

from 
them 

to 
write 

a 
fifteen-page 

introduction 

for 
their 

printing 
of 

the 
Final 

Report.” 
In 

July, 
the 

government 
completed 

their 
publication 

of 
the 

r
e
m
a
i
n
i
n
g
 

twenty-seven 
v
o
l
u
m
e
 

a
p
p
e
n
d
i
x
 

to 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

Final 
Report. 

Twelve 
volumes 

concern 
the 

Kennedy 
murder, 

thirteen 

volumes 
pertain 

to 
the 

killing 
of 

King, 
and 

two 
volumes 

focus 
on 

legislative 

and 
administrative 

reforms. 
None 

of 
the 

volumes 
is 

indexed, 
and 

only brief 

word-clues 
on 

the 
face 

of 
each 

suggest 
the 

contents 
to 

the 
reader. 

The 
H
S
C
A
’
s
 

Final 
Report 

and 
its 

twelve 
volumes 

of 
Kennedy 

docu- 

mentation 
are 

blatantly, 
yet 

curiously, 
inconsistent 

with 
the 

final 
conclusion 

endorsing 
a 
conspiracy 

in 
Dallas. 

If 
anything, 

the 
bulk 

of 
their 

testimony 

and 
evidence 

remains 
true 

to 
the 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

originally 
stated 

purpose, 
to 

make 

the 
Warren 

Report 
‘‘persuasive.’’* 

But 
then, 

as 
if 

in 
a 

mere 
afterthought 

to 
several 

sections 
of 

the 
Final 

Report, 
the 

reader 
is 

urged 
to 

reject 
the 

Warren 
Report’s 

cornerstone: 
Oswald, 

the 
lone 

assassin. 

Obviously, 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

had 
gone 

public 
at 

the 
last 

m
o
m
e
n
t
 

over 
the 

audio 

evidence 
c
o
n
f
i
r
m
i
n
g
 

a 
front 

g
u
n
m
a
n
 

facing 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
.
 

In 
fact, 

it 
was 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 

R
e
p
o
r
t
 

critics 
M
a
r
y
 

Ferrell, 
G
a
r
y
 
M
a
c
k
,
 

and 
P
e
n
n
 

Jones, 
Jr., 

w
h
o
 
brought 

the 
tape 

and 
other 

data 
to 

the 
attention 

of 
the 

HSCA.”’ 
Another 

critic,, 

Robert 
Groden, 

painstakingly 
located 

a 
key 

witness 
for 

the 
H
S
C
A
 

staff.** 

This 
not 

only 
exemplifies 

the 
level 

of 
the 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 
competence 

as 
researchers 

but 
also 

its 
refusal 

to 
follow 

its 
congressional 

mandate 
to 

investigate 
the 

p
e
r
f
o
r
m
a
n
c
e
 

of 
earlier 

federal 
investigators. 

In 
1964 

the 
FBI 

claimed 
to 

have 
studied 

certain 
audio 

tapes 
and 

to 
have 

found 
no 

pertinent 
evidence 

on 
them.’? 

The 
Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

even 
printed 

versions 
of 

them.'% 

Apparently 
no 

H
S
C
A
 
m
e
m
b
e
r
 

or 
staff 

investigators 
thought 

to 
question 

the 

FBI 
on 

this 
f
u
n
d
a
m
e
n
t
 

for 
conspiracy. 

Instead, 
the 

Final 
Report 

reassured 
its 

readers 
that 

“the 
Warren 

Com- 

mission 
conducted 

a 
thorough 

and 
professional 

investigation 
into 

the 

responsibility 
of 

Lee 
Harvey 

Oswald 
for 

the 
assassination. 

nol 
Tt 

then 
pro- 

ceeded 
to 

knock 
down 

several 
‘‘strawmen’’ 

theories 
left 

and 
right, 

at 
rather 

tiresome 
length, 

most 
of 

which 
we 

have 
noted 

in 
our 

categories 
of 

the 

irrational, 
subjective, 

exploitative, 
and 

sinister 
literature. 

So 
it 

was 
that 

s
i
d
e
s
h
o
w
 

d
r
a
m
a
s
 

about 
‘‘the 

umbrella 
man’’ 

and 
the 

Soviet-substituted, 

Oswald 
look-alike 

were 
demolished 

in 
a 

fanfare 
of 

media 
publicity 

from 

Capitol 
Hill. 

Yet, 
at 

crucial 
points 

in 
the 

Final 
Report, 

the 
H
S
C
A
 

would 
have 

us 
turned 

h
a
l
f
w
a
y
 
a
r
o
u
n
d
 

from 
the 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 

Report 
to 

e
m
b
r
a
c
e
 

the 
sugges- 

tion 
of 

“‘more 
than 

one 
gunman!”’ 

In 
such 

bewildering 
circumstances, 

it 
is 

appropriate 
for 

us 
to 

examine 

briefly 
some 

key 
elements 

in 
the 

official 
explanations, 

now 
mainly 

updated
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rom 
the 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 

Report 
by 

the 
H
S
C
A
 

for 
1979. 

W
e
 

must 
limit 

attention 

o 
several 

vital 
parts 

of 
this 

official 
case 

and 
the 

ways 
it 

uses 
and 

abuses 

vidence. 
We 

are 
not 

in 
the 

business 
of 

exculpating 
anyone, 

including 

Jswald. 
Rather, 

we 
wish 

only 
to 

measure 
the 

present 
H
S
C
A
’
s
 

case 
by 

the 

otal 
evidence 

available. 
We 

will 
examine 

seven 
points 

here. 

First, 
with 

regard 
to 

the 
JFK 

autopsy 
report, 

the 
H
S
C
A
’
s
 

Final 
Report 

tates: The 
secrecy 

that 
surrounds 

the 
autopsy 

proceedings, 
therefore, 

has 
led 

to 

considerable 
skepticism 

toward 
the 

Commission's 
findings. 

Concern 
has 

been 

expressed 
that 

authorities 
were 

less 
than 

candid, 
since 

the 
Navy 

doctor 
in 

charge 

of 
the 

autopsy 
conducted 

at 
Bethesda 

Naval 
Hospital 

destroyed 
his 

notes. 
. 

. 
at 

This 
is 

not 
true. 

The 
problem 

began 
with 

the 
fact 

that 
the 

Warren 
C
o
m
-
 

mission 
used 

a 
second 

draft, 
not 

the 
original 

autopsy 
report. 

The 
N
a
v
y
 

doctor, 
J. 

J. 
H
u
m
e
s
,
 

b
u
r
n
e
d
 

the 
first 

autopsy 
protocol 

i
m
m
e
d
i
a
t
e
l
y
 

after 

Oswald’s 
murder 

by 
Ruby. 

That 
death 

eliminated 
the 

need 
for a 

trial, 
his 

testimony 
and 

c
r
o
s
s
-
e
x
a
m
i
n
a
t
i
o
n
.
 

The 
second 

draft 
was 

later 
changed, 

then 
modified 

again 
in 

the 
offices 

of 
a 
Navy 

admiral. 
The 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
-
 

sion 
then 

masked 
the 

destruction 
of 

this 
original 

document 
by 

asserting 

that 
Humes’ 

notes 
had 

been 
burned. 

In 
fact, 

the 
doctor 

destroyed 
his 

holo- 

graphic 
draft, 

but 
he 

turned 
in 

his 
second 

draft, 
along 

with 
his 

notes, 
to 

federal 
agencies. 

These 
notes 

then 
disappeared, 

but 
the 

actual 
chain 

of 
evi- 

dence 
remains 

for 
anyone 

desiring 
to 

see 
it. 

On 
Sunday, 

24 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963, 
H
u
m
e
s
 

executed 
two 

certificates. 
One 

stated 
that 

he 
had 

burned 
preliminary 

draft 
notes. 

The 
other, 

addressed 
to 

Captain 
J. 

H. 
Stover, 

his 
C
o
m
m
a
n
d
i
n
g
 

Officer, 
stated 

in 
part: 

‘‘Autopsy 

_=ates 
and 

the 
holograph 

draft 
(i.e., 

the 
second 

one) 
of 

the 
final 

report 
were 

.nded 
to 

C
o
m
m
a
n
d
i
n
g
 

Officer 
. 

. 
. 

at 
1700, 

24 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963.’’'®? 
The 

next 
day, 

A
d
m
i
r
a
l
 
Galloway, 

C
o
m
m
a
n
d
i
n
g
 

Officer, 
National 

Naval 
Medical 

Center, 
transmitted 

by 
hand 

to 
A
d
m
i
r
a
l
 
G
e
o
r
g
e
 

C. 
Burkley, 

Physician 
to 

the 
President, 

the 
protocol 

and 
‘‘the 

work 
papers 

in 
the 

case 
of 

John 
F. 

K
e
n
n
e
d
y
,
”
 

recording 
this 

transaction 
with 

a 
m
e
m
o
r
a
n
d
u
m
.
'
*
 

O
n
 

26 
No- 

vember, 
Robert 

Bouck 
of 

the 
Secret 

Service 
accepted 

this 
from 

Burkley, 

signing 
a 

receipt 
for 

the 
‘‘autopsy 

report 
and 

notes 
of 

the 
examining 

doctor 

which 
is 

described 
in 

a 
letter 

of 
transmittal 

Nov. 
25, 

1963, 
by 

Dr. G
a
l
l
a
w
a
y
 

[sic].""""* 
Here 

the 
record 

of 
the 

chain 
of 

possession 
ends, 

and 
these 

vital 

notes 
disappear 

from 
history. 

H
u
m
e
s
 

however 
testified 

in,/1964:before 
the 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

that: 
‘In 

the 
privacy 

of 
m
y
 
o
w
n
-
H
o
m
e
,
 

early 
in 

the 

m
o
r
n
i
n
g
 

of 
S
u
n
d
a
y
,
 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

24, 
I 
m
a
d
e
 a 

draft 
of 

this 
report. 

. 
. 

. 
That 

draft 
I 
personally 

burned. 
. 

. 
.’"'°* 

The 
commission 

ignored 
the 

destruction 

and 
preferred 

to 
cover 

up 
the 

disappearance; 
H
S
C
A
 

did 
the 

same. 

This 
leads 

to 
the 

related 
matter 

of 
the 

HSCA’s 
false 

assertion 
that 

‘‘. 
. . neither 

the 
members 

of 
the 

Warren 
Commission, 

nor 
its 

staff, 
nor 

the 
doctors 

who 
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performed 
the 

autopsy, 
took 

advantage 
of 

the 
X-rays 

and 
photographs 

of 

the 
president 

that 
were 

taken 
during 

the 
course 

of 
the 

autopsy.'*’ 
This 

claim 

goes 
back 

to 
the 

Warren 
Commission’s 

lone-assassin 
theory, 

which 
required 

that 
the 

alleged 
three 

bullets 
all 

came 
from 

behind 
and 

high 
to 

the 
right; 

one 

of 
them 

missing, 
one 

passing 
through 

Kennedy 
and 

Connally 
inflicting 

seven 
wounds, 

and 
the 

last 
shattering 

Kennedy’s 
skull.'°* 

The 
single 

bullet 

that 
inflicted 

so 
many 

wounds 
had 

to 
have 

penetrated 
the 

president’s 
body 

at 
a 
steep-enough 

angle 
to 

exit 
at 

his 
necktie 

knot 
and 

continue 
d
o
w
n
w
a
r
d
 

to 
hit 

Connally 
near 

his 
armpit. 

The 
commission 

had 
put 

the 
entry 

hole 
at 

the 
back 

of 
K
e
n
n
e
d
y
’
s
 

neck; 
but 

the 
H
S
C
A
 

found 
that 

the 
bullet 

hole 
in 

the 

autopsy 
was 

actually 
where 

various 
critics, 

particularly 
Weisberg 

and 
Roff- 

m
a
n
,
 

had 
said 

it 
was: 

in 
the 

back.'*’ 
To 

reconcile 
their 

contradiction 
of 

the 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
’
s
 

version, 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

c
o
n
c
o
c
t
e
d
 

the 
tale 

of 
ignorance 

just 
quoted. 

Again, 
the 

chain 
of 

evidence 
puts 

the 
lie 

to 
all 

of 
this. 

The 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
-
 

mission 
and 

its 
staff 

did 
have 

access 
to 

the 
X-rays, 

photographs, 
and 

other 

documentary 
evidence 

that 
placed 

the 
bullet 

entry 
hole 

on 
the 

back 
and 

too 

low 
to 

enable 
the 

single 
bullet 

to 
transit 

two 
bodies 

and 
cause 

seven 
w
o
u
n
d
s
.
 

In 
the 

minutes 
of 

the 
executive 

session 
of 

27 
January 

1964, 
Chief 

Counsel 

J. 
Lee 

Rankin 
informed 

the 
members 

of 
the 

commission: 
‘‘. 

. 
. 

it 
seems 

quite 
apparent 

now, 
since 

we 
have 

the 
picture 

of 
where 

the 
bullet 

entered 
in 

the 
back, 

that 
the 

bullet 
entered 

below 
the 

shoulder 
blade 

to 
the 

right 
of 

the 
backbone. 

. 
. 

.”"""? 
On 

21 
June 

1966, 
the 

Secret 
Service 

issued 
an 

un- 

titled 
press 

release 
that 

stated 
in 

part: 
‘‘The 

X-ray 
films 

were 
used 

for 
the 

briefing 
of 

the 
Warren 

Commission’s 
staff 

on 
the 

autopsy 
procedure 

and 

results.’’''' 
Secret 

Service 
Chief 

T
o
m
 

Kelley, 
then 

an 
Inspector, 

told 
Harold 

Weisberg 
that 

he 
had 

shown 
the 

films 
to 

the 
staff.''? 

Staff 
m
e
m
b
e
r
 

Arlen 

Specter 
stated, 

in 
an 

interview 
with 

U.S. 
News 

& 
World 

Report 
on 

10 
Octo- 

ber 
1966 

that: 
‘‘I 

was 
shown 

one 
picture 

of 
the 

back. 
. 

. 
.’”’'? 

In 
another 

interview, 
this 

time 
with 

Joseph 
Whalen, 

the 
biographer 

of 
President 

Kennedy’s 
father, 

Specter 
admitted 

that 
he 

had 
seen 

the 
autopsy 

films 
at 

the 
time.''* 

W
h
y
 
should 

the 
H
S
C
A
 

try 
to 

bury 
all 

of 
this? 

The 
third, 

and 
related, 

illustration 
is 

the 
falsification 

of 
the 

description 

of 
President 

Kennedy’s 
shirt 

collar. 
The 

‘‘slits’’ 
.on 

his 
shirt 

collar 
may 

appear 
to 

be 
of 

minor 
significance, 

but 
in 

fact 
they 

are 
a 
major 

part 
of 

the 

simple 
and 

concrete 
evidence. 

In 
order 

to 
embrace 

the 
single-bullet 

theory, 

the 
Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

as 
well 

as 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

had 
to 

prove 
that 

the 
bullet 

that 
transited 

the 
president’s 

neck 
proceeded 

on 
a 
steep-enough 

d
o
w
n
w
a
r
d
 

angle 
to 

line 
up 

with 
the 

governor’s 
back 

w
o
u
n
d
.
 

Only 
by 

lowering 
the 

exit 

wound 
to 

the 
level 

of 
the 

necktie 
knot 

could 
that 

d
o
w
n
w
a
r
d
 

angle 
fit 

their 

preconceived 
solution 

for 
the 

transit. 
The 

slightest 
variation 

in 
angle 

will 

completely 
negate 

the 
commission’s 

attempt 
to 

tie 
the 

lone 
assassin 

and 
his 

hardworking 
single 

bullet 
to 

the 
murder. 

The 
H
S
C
A
,
 

too, 
put 

all 
of 

its 

argument 
on 

this 
line.
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The 
H
S
C
A
’
s
 

team 
of 

medical 
specialists 

described 
the 

president’s 
shirt 

lar 
through 

which 
the 

bullet 
had 

to 
pass, 

in 
order 

to 
hit 

the 
governor’s 

ick, 
in 

this 
m
a
n
n
e
r
:
 

Examination 
of 

the 
shirt 

reveals 
a 

slit-like 
defect 

in 
the 

upper 
left 

front 
por- 

tion, 
1.4 

centimeters 
below 

the 
topmost 

buttonhole. 
This 

defect 
measures 

1.4 

centimeters 
in 

length, 
with 

its 
long 

axis 
parallel 

to 
the 

long 
axis 

of 
the 

body. 

There 
is 

a 
corresponding 

slit-like 
defect 

1.5 
centimeters 

below 
the 

center 
of 

the 

button 
on 

the 
right. 

This 
defect 

measures 
1.5 

centimeters 
in 

length 
and 

is 
also 

parallel 
to 

the 
long 

axis 
of 

the 
body 

(See 
fig. 

3, 
a 
photograph 

of 
the 

shirt)'"’ 

il 
of 

this 
will, 

of 
course, 

sustain 
the 

single-bullet 
theory 

and 
its 

requisite 

‘ansit, 
as 

intended. 
The 

photograph 
of 

the 
shirt 

collar, 
however, 

was 
taken 

‘om 
fifteen 

feet 
away, 

rendering 
it 

indistinct, 
perhaps 

also 
as 

intended. 

That 
slit 

below 
the 

buttonhole 
is 

indeed 
parallel 

to 
the 

long 
axis 

of 
the 

ody, 
but 

it 
also 

extends 
halfway 

into 
the 

neckband. 
The 

slit 
on 

the 
button 

de 
is 

perpendicular 
to 

the 
body 

axis 
and 

below 
the 

seam 
of 

the 
neckband 

nd 
shirt, 

much 
closer 

to 
the 

edge 
than 

the 
other. 

The 
primary 

problem 

that 
the 

slits 
do 

not 
coincide 

when 
the 

shirt 
is 

buttoned! 
Moreover, 

these 

its 
were 

devoid 
of 

any 
traces 

of 
metal 

typically 
found 

when 
a 

bullet 
passes 

irough 
cloth.''® 

In 
fact, 

these 
slits 

were 
made 

by 
the 

Parkland 
Hospital 

m
e
r
g
e
n
c
y
 
r
o
o
m
 

staff 
in 

Dallas 
following 

surgical 
p
r
o
c
e
d
u
r
e
s
 

by 
which 

they 

urriedly 
but 

deftly 
cut 

away 
the 

shirt 
with 

scalpels. 
The 

attending 
physician, 

dr. 
Charles 

James 
Carrico, 

and 
the 

duty 
nurse 

verified 
that 

this 
is 

precisely 

shat 
they 

did.''’ 
Carrico 

testified 
to 

the 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

that 
the 

bullet 

ole 
in 

the 
throat 

was 
above 

the 
shirt 

collar. 
W
h
e
n
 

asked 
by 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

iember 
Dulles 

to 
demonstrate 

where, 
precisely, 

the 
wound 

was, 
Carrico 

ated 
it 

out 
on 

his 
own 

body, 
and 

Dulles 
responded: 

‘‘I 
see. 

And 
you-put 

vur 
hand 

right 
above 

where 
your 

tie 
is?’’''* 

Needless 
to 

say, 
the 

resultant 

ngle 
renders 

the 
single-bullet 

theory 
inoperable 

and 
demolishes 

the 
official 

ase 
on 

this 
point. 

Fourth, 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

Final 
Report 

reasserted 
the 

Warren 
Report’s 

claim 

hat 
O
s
w
a
l
d
’
s
 
palm 

print 
was 

found 
on 

the 
stock 

of 
the 

rifle 
discovered 

on 

he 
sixth 

floor 
of 

the 
Texas 

School 
Book 

Depository 
building.''? 

But 
the 

ISCA 
omitted 

the 
fact 

that 
the 

print 
had 

been 
mailed 

into 
FBI 

headquarters 

ry 
the 

Dallas 
police 

days 
after 

the 
rifle 

had 
left 

Dallas 
for 

laboratory 
testing; 

he 
Dallas 

officer 
who 

lifted 
the 

print 
from 

the 
stock 

refused 
point-blank 

to 

xecute 
an 

affidavit 
for 

the 
Warren 

Commission 
stating 

wheré the 
print 

had 
wiginated.'?° 

io 

Fifth, 
the 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

had 
claimed 

that 
O
s
w
a
l
d
 

carried 
the 

dis- 

ssembled 
rifle 

into 
the 

building 
in 

a 
paper 

sack 
found 

on 
the 

sixth 
floor 

iear 
the 

alleged 
scene 

of 
the 

crime.'?' 
An 

array 
of 

scientific 
data 

was 
then 

nustered 
to 

prove 
that 

‘‘several’’ 
fibers 

discovered 
on 

the 
sack 

came 
froma 

Nanket 
found 

among 
Oswald’s 

possessions 
in 

a 
garage 

where 
the 

rifle 
was 
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allegedly 
stored. 

The 
rifle 

‘‘could 
have 

picked 
up 

the 
fibers 

from 
the 

blanket 

and 
transmitted 

them 
to 

the 
paper 

bag’’ 
but 

the 
c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
,
 

as 
well 

as 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

clear 
assertion 

of 
its 

findings, 
did 

not 
report 

the 
fact 

that 
the 

Dallas 
police 

took 
no 

precautions 
at 

all 
to 

keep 
the 

several 
articles 

of 
evi- 

dence 
from 

coming 
into 

contact 
with 

each 
other 

prior 
to 

examination.'?? 

Likewise, 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

simply 
eliminated 

the 
testimony 

of 
B
o
o
k
 

Depository 

employee 
Dougherty, 

who 
waited 

just 
inside 

the 
building’s 

entrance 
that 

morning 
and 

emphatically 
swore 

that 
Oswald 

entered 
empty-handed.'” 

Furthermore, 
to 

assert 
that 

the 
sack 

could 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
t
e
 

the 
disassembled 

rifle 
parts 

is 
to 

contravene 
the 

sack’s 
linear 

measurement.'** 
To 

charge 
that 

Oswald’s 
fingerprints 

were 
on 

the 
empty 

sack 
proves 

nothing. 
O
s
w
a
l
d
 
w
o
r
k
e
d
 

on 
the 

sixth 
floor 

during 
preceding 

weeks; 
his 

prints 
ought 

to 
be 

there 
and 

elsewhere. 
What 

the 
H
S
C
A
 

did 
not 

report 
is 

the 
fact 

that 
the 

fingerprints 
of 

police 
officers 

who 
picked 

up 
the 

sack 
and 

carelessly 
handled 

it 
did 

not 

appear 
when 

it 
was 

tested,'*? 
which 

surely 
suggests 

something 
about 

their 

testing 
procedures. 

Sixth, 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

Final 
Report 

repeated 
the 

Warren 
Report’s 

conclusion 

that 
Oswald 

fired 
three 

shots, 
two 

of 
which 

had 
to 

occur 
prior 

to 
the 

move- 

ment 
of 

the 
presidential 

limousine 
behind 

the 
Stemmons’ 

Street 
sign 

in 
the 

Zapruder 
film, 

at 
frame 

210. 
The 

shot 
that 

they 
state 

was 
fired 

‘‘at 
about 

frames 
188-191"’ 

is 
the 

bullet 
that 

is 
said 

to 
have 

caused 
seven 

wounds 
on 

two 
men.'?6 

No 
mention 

is 
made 

of 
the 

live 
oak 

trees 
in 

front 
of 

the 
Book 

Depository 
that 

blocked 
the 

vision 
of 

any 
sniper 

from 
that 

alleged 
lair 

between 
Zapruder 

frames 
170 

and 
210.'?”? 

Frames 
188-191, 

then, 
could 

arguably 
even 

eliminate 
Oswald, 

or 
anyone 

else, 
firing 

from 
that 

particular 

location 
at 

that 
particular 

point 
in 

time. 
Obviously 

this 
would 

require 
the 

presence 
of 

another 
assassin, 

or 
other 

assassins, 
firing 

from 
another 

location, 

or. 
other 

locations, 
at 

that 
very 

s
a
m
e
 

time. 
O
n
c
e
 

again, 
we 

are 
forced 

to 

wonder 
at 

the 
methods 

and 
purposes 

of 
the 

recent 
H
S
C
A
 

investigation. 

Seventh, 
the 

omission 
of 

J
a
m
e
s
 

T. 
T
a
g
u
e
 
from 

the 
Final 

Report, 
as 

well 

as 
from 

the 
twelve 

v
o
l
u
m
e
s
 

and 
the 

entire 
investigation, 

sufficiently 
dis- 

credits 
the 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

c
o
m
m
i
t
m
e
n
t
 

to 
truth. 

Incredibly, 
such 

an 
extensive 

congressional 
probe 

did 
not 

call 
as 

a 
witness, 

nor 
even 

investigate, 
one 

of 

the 
victims 

of 
the 

crime. 
The 

Final 
Report 

does 
not 

even 
mention 

his 
name.'”* 

Just 
thirty 

minutes 
from 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

staff 
offices, 

on 
Judiciary 

Square, 
there 

are 
innumerable 

legal 
records 

from 
the 

FBI’s 
testing 

of 
the 

material 
dug 

from 
the 

curbstone 
hit 

that 
caused 

citizen 
Tague 

to 
bleed 

that 
day.'?? 

Did 
it 

not 
seem 

important 
to 

official 
investigators, 

in 
1964'?° 

and 
1978, 

to 
know 

where 
exactly 

T
a
g
u
e
 
stood, 

the 
location 

of 
his 

w
o
u
n
d
,
 

and 
the 

w
h
e
r
e
a
b
o
u
t
s
 

of 
later 

photographs 
that 

he 
took 

of 
all 

of 
this? 

That 
curbstone, 

apparently 

struck 
by 

one 
of 

the 
bullets, 

is 
now 

in 
the 

National 
Archives, 

with 
the 

shattered 
area 

neatly 
plastered 

over.'?' 
After 

someone had. tidied 
up 

that 

bit 
of 

primary 
evidence, 

the 
FBI 

subsequently 
cleaned 

its 
files 

of 
key 

analyt- 

ical 
reports 

on 
the 

curbstone 
itself.'*?
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As 
if 

these 
seven 

points 
are 

not 
enough 

to 
undermine 

confidence 
in 

the 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

recent 
investigation, 

several 
additional 

and 
more 

general 
observa- 

tions 
must 

be 
made. 

The 
most 

obvious 
failure 

is 
the 

congressional 
refusal 

to 

make 
an 

honest 
inquiry 

into 
the 

FBI’s 
role 

in 
the 

original 
probe, 

which 
is 

all 

the 
more 

serious 
if 

we 
recall 

the 
Warren 

Commission's 
own 

misgivings 

about 
FBI 

pressures. 
It 

is 
c
o
m
p
o
u
n
d
e
d
 

by 
the 

fact 
that 

the 
FBI 

controlled 

all 
security 

clearances 
for 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

and 
H
S
C
A
 

staff 
and 

con- 

sultants. 
Perhaps 

a 
few 

more 
examples 

of 
the 

FBI’s 
curious 

ways 
with 

the 

evidence 
will 

suffice. 

Mrs. 
R. 

E. 
Arnold, 

in 
a 

h
a
n
d
w
r
i
t
t
e
n
 

statement 
for 

the 
FBI, 

stated 
that 

she 
saw 

O
s
w
a
l
d
 

on 
the 

first 
floor 

at 
about 

12:25 
p.M., 

which 
is 

five 
minutes 

yefore 
the 

gunshots 
and 

over 
ten 

minutes 
after 

an 
a
r
m
e
d
 

figure 
was 

seen 
on 

the 
upper 

floors 
by 

outside 
witnesses. 

W
h
e
n
 

the 
FBI 

typed 
her 

original 

statement, 
the 

time 
c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 

to 
12:15.'® 

Several 
score 

prisoners 
crowded 

the 
windows 

of 
the 

top 
floor 

of 
the 

Dallas 
Criminal 

Courts 
Building 

to 
view 

the 
motorcade. 

What 
they 

saw, 

from 
perhaps 

the 
best 

vantage 
point 

in 
the 

entire 
Dealey 

Plaza, 
had 

urgent 

value 
to 

any 
investigation 

of 
the 

murder, 
but 

their 
attempts 

to 
submit 

testi- 

m
o
n
y
 

to 
what 

they 
saw 

were 
firmly 

turned 
away. 

W
h
e
n
 

at 
least 

one 
prisoner 

pressed 
the 

matter 
through 

his 
attorney, 

the 
FBI 

returned 
his 

request 
to 

testify 
that 

he 
saw 

two 
men 

in 
the 

alleged 
sniper’s 

lair, 
none 

of 
them 

fitting 

the 
description 

of 
Oswald, 

with 
the 

annotation 
‘‘not 

pertinent.’’'”* 

Akin 
to 

this 
is 

the 
example 

of 
Charles 

Bronson, 
who 

took 
slides 

and 

motion 
pictures 

of 
the 

assassination. 
He 

made 
his 

film 
and 

slides 
available 

to 
the 

FBI 
on 

M
o
n
d
a
y
,
 

25 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963. 
The 

FBI 
viewed 

them 
p
r
o
m
p
t
l
y
,
 

after 
the 

E
a
s
t
m
a
n
 
K
o
d
a
k
 
C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 

finished 
processing 

t
h
e
m
 

in 
Dallas, 

and 

evaluated 
them. 

The 
FBI 

Special 
Agents 

said 
the 

pictures 
were 

‘‘not 
suf- 

“ciently 
clear’’ 

for 
identification 

purposes 
and 

‘‘these 
films 

failed 
to 

show 

ue 
building 

from 
which 

the 
shots 

were 
fired.” 

In 
1978 

Earl 
Golz 

of 
the 

Dallas 
Morning 

News 
and 

Gary 
Mack 

of 
Ft. 

Worth 
radio 

station 
K
F
J
Z
 

located 
Bronson, 

who 
made 

the 
pictures 

available 
to 

photographic 
experts 

and 
to 

a 
reluctant 

H
S
C
A
.
 

The 
film 

clearly 
s
h
o
w
s
 

the 
Texas 

School 
B
o
o
k
 

Depository 
and 

what 
appears 

to 
be 

two 
figures 

in 
the 

windows 
of 

the alleged 

sniper’s 
lair.'?* 

This 
leads 

us 
to 

a 
final 

observation 
about 

the 
FBI 

in 
the 

context 
of 

the 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

recent 
investigation, 

specifically 
with 

regard 
to 

the 
case 

against 

Oswald. 
Some 

relationship 
clearly 

existed 
between 

the 
two 

in 
New 

Orleans 

between 
May 

and 
September 

1963. 
For 

example, 
the 

FBI néyer;at-any 
point 

told 
anyone 

associated 
with 

the 
official 

investigation 
of 

Kennedy’s 
killing 

that 
the 

address 
Oswald 

stamped 
on 

his 
New 

Orleans 
literature'’® 

was 
the 

same 
address 

used 
by 

an 
anti-Castro 

group 
and 

coincidentally 
as 

well 
by 

a 

close 
associate 

of 
the 

FBI. 
Oswald 

used 
544 

Camp, 
which 

was 
one 

side 
of 

the 
s
a
m
e
 

corner 
building 

having 
the 

dual 
address 

of 
531 

LaFayette.'’’ 
The 

Introduction 
wot 

anti-Castro 
C
u
b
a
n
s
 
w
o
r
k
e
d
 

out 
of 

offices 
at 

544 
C
a
m
p
,
 

while 
a 

certain 
G
u
y
 

Banister 
kept 

an 
office 

at 
531 

LaFayette. 
By 

May 
1963, 

Banister 
was 

a 
free- 

lance 
detective 

and 
former 

FBI 
agent, 

m
a
i
n
t
a
i
n
i
n
g
 

close 
contact 

with 
local 

FBI 
ex-colleagues. 

The 
unpublished 

record, 
which 

was 
muddied 

by 
Garri- 

son’s 
grand 

inquisition, 
did 

establish 
the 

meetings 
held 

in 
Banister’s 

office 

with 
the 

anti-Castro 
groups. 

David 
Ferrie, 

a 
shadowy 

figure 
in 

right-wing 

fringe 
groups 

around 
New 

Orleans, 
also 

met 
with 

such 
groups 

and 
had 

a 

“close” 
relationship 

with 
Banister.'?* 

These 
anti-Castro 

groups 
operated 

as 

paramilitary 
units, 

no 
doubt 

waiting 
for 

the 
next 

invasion 
call. W

h
e
t
h
e
r
 

connected 
specifically 

to 
them 

or 
not, 

Banister 
also 

acted 
in 

certain 
gun- 

smuggling 
projects 

in 
and 

outside 
New 

Orleans." 
The 

FBI 
reported 

none 

of 
the 

Banister 
associations 

to 
the 

Warren 
investigators, 

and 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

dis- 

counted 
the 

entire 
topic 

by 
invoking 

a 
sort 

of 
devil 

theory 
that 

made 
‘‘or- 

ganized 
crime”’ 

the 
culprit.'*° 

The 
FBI 

also 
never 

reported 
or 

explained 
the 

appearance 
in Oswald’s 

address 
book 

of 
three 

nonexistent 
addresses.'*' 

Some 
have 

suggested 
that 

these 
may 

possibly 
relate 

to 
intelligence 

connections, 
as 

coded 
locations. 

In 
addition, 

the 
FBI 

never 
identified 

the 
person 

associated 
with 

O
s
w
a
l
d
 

at 

several 
handbill 

operations 
in 

New 
Orleans, 

when 
the 

two 
openly 

circulated 

p
r
o
-
C
a
s
t
r
o
 

literature. 
These 

O
s
w
a
l
d
 

activities 
were 

recorded 
on 

the 
films 

by 

Martin, 
Doyle, 

W
W
L
,
 

and 
W
D
S
U
-
T
V
.
'
”
 

The 
FBI 

privately 
examined 

all 

of 
the 

films 
but 

managed, 
for 

some 
inexplicable 

reason, 
to 

excise, 
blur, 

and 

modify 
those 

portions 
that 

showed 
Oswald’s 

associate.'“’ 
Finally, 

the 
FBI 

never 
identified 

the 
‘‘other’’ 

person’s 
fingerprint, 

only 
Oswald’s, 

on 
the 

handbill 
or 

flyer 
they 

passed 
around 

on 
the 

Dumaine 
Wharf.'** 

Obviously 

the 
entire 

tale 
remains 

to 
be 

told, 
but 

we 
believe 

that 
Oswald’s 

New 
Orleans 

adventures 
will 

provide 
keys 

to 
future 

d
o
o
r
s
.
 

. For 
that 

reason, 
we 

have 

supplied 
a 
map 

that 
identifies 

some 
of 

Oswald’s 
known 

locations 
in 

New 

Orleans 
during 

the 
four 

months 
prior 

to 
his 

fatal 
move 

to 
Dallas. 

While 
m
u
c
h
 

of 
this 

account 
remains 

circumstantial, 
coincidental, 

and 

covert, 
there 

are 
also 

some 
substantial 

links 
between 

Oswald 
and 

the 
CIA 

still 
overlooked 

in 
the 

latest 
official 

study 
by 

the 
H
S
C
A
.
 

The 
ex-Attorney 

General 
Nicholas 

Katzenbach 
testified 

before 
the 

H
S
C
A
,
 

with 
regard 

to 

political 
assassinations 

generally, 
that 

‘“‘whenever 
they 

[CIA] 
wanted 

a 
book 

suppressed 
they 

c
a
m
e
 

to 
me 

and 
I 

told 
them 

not 
to 

do 
it.’’'** 

T
e
n
u
o
u
s
 

as 

this 
undoubtedly 

is, 
it 

at 
least 

suggests 
a 
CIA 

working-interest, 
an 

exerted 

control 
in 

the 
unfolding 

tragedy 
of 

U.S. 
political 

assassinations 
that 

began 

anew 
in 

1963. 
Their 

desire 
to 

control 
aspects 

of 
such 

stories 
within 

domestic 

news 
m
e
d
i
a
 
and 

publishing 
houses 

at 
that 

time 
is 

n
o
w
 

so 
well 

exposed 
as 

to 

require 
no 

further 
comment. 

With 
specific 

reference 
to 

the 
case 

against 

Oswald, 
the 

former 
CIA 

Director 
Allen 

Dulles, 
a 

Warren 
Commission 

member, 
secretly 

met 
with 

the 
CIA 

officials 
to 

help 
them 

prepare 
for 

the 

commission’s 
questions 

and 
to 

suggest 
to 

them 
how 

they 
could 

limit 
responses



xxxiv 
Introduction 

concerning 
Oswald.'** 

The 
CIA 

also 
withheld 

crucial 
photographic 

intelli- 

gence 
from 

the 
c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

in 
1964, 

after 
secretly 

obtaining 
a 

print 
of 

the 

Zapruder 
film 

and 
submitting 

it 
quietly 

to 
the 

National 
Photographic 

In- 

terpretation 
Center 

for 
technical 

analysis. 
That 

study 
found 

that 
shots 

occurred 
at 

times 
which 

excluded 
Oswald 

as 
alone 

assassin.'*” 
None 

of 
this 

critical 
information 

ever 
came 

before 
the 

Warren 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

but 
although 

it 
surfaced 

in 
the 

Rockefeller 
Commission’s 

investigation 
of 

the 
CIA, 

re- 

ported 
in 

1975, 
the 

point 
conveniently 

sank 
without 

trace 
and 

remained 

s
u
b
m
e
r
g
e
d
 

for 
the 

H
S
C
A
’
s
 

study.'** 

We 
remain 

painfully 
aware 

of 
the 

ignorance 
that 

still 
surrounds 

this 

murder 
case. 

W
e
 

reluctantly 
must 

assert, 
after 

a 
careful 

study 
of 

the 
H
S
C
A
’
s
 

‘inal 
Report, 

that 
this 

most 
recent 

official 
version 

does 
not 

satisfy 
the 

need 

for 
a 

thorough 
inquiry 

into 
what 

happened 
that 

day 
in 

Dallas. 
It 

does, 

however, 
mark 

a 
major 

erosion 
in 

this 
case 

among 
federal 

agencies. 
Perhaps 

in 
time 

the 
H
S
C
A
’
s
 

halting 
endorsement 

of 
a 

probable 
conspiracy 

will 
be 

seen 
as 

excessive 
scrupulosity 

rather 
than 

political 
timidity. 

Their 
Report 

takes 
a 

first 
official 

step 
away 

from 
the 

Warren 
Report, 

and 
we 

hope 
that 

the 
next 

step 
will 

be 
into 

the 
context 

of 
the 

case, 
to 

explain 
how 

every 
major 

institution, 
except 

for 
the 

federal 
judiciary, 

has 
failed 

to 
meet 

its 
subsequent 

obligation 
to 

the 
A
m
e
r
i
c
a
n
 

public 
in 

this 
case. 

While 
the 

media 
became 

mainly 
docile 

mouthpieces 
for 

officialdom, 
our 

legislative 
and 

executive 
branches 

were 
showing 

themselves 
manifestly 

unable 
to 

investigate 
themselves, 

much 
less 

the 
killing 

of 
a 

president. 
Only 

our 
federal 

law 
courts, 

with 
their 

adversary 
procedure 

and 
the 

Freedom 
of 

Information 
Act, 

have 
permitted 

the 
citizenry 

to 
break 

through 
deliberate 

clouds 
of 

official 
obfuscation. 

No 
one 

darés 
gainsay 

the 
special 

role 
that 

their 
decisions 

have 
played, 

in 
most 

cases, 
for 

the 
freeing 

of 
this 

murder 

ystery 
from 

bureaucratic 
bondage. 

Future 
scholars 

will 
owe 

their 
first 

uebt 
to 

the 
access 

to 
the 

evidence 
that 

federal 
judges 

and 
private 

litigants 

have 
forced. 

W
e
 

are 
confident 

that 
m
o
r
e
 
affirmative 

answers 
will 

s
o
m
e
 
day 

e
m
e
r
g
e
 

to 

the 
questions 

of 
what 

happened 
and 

who 
did 

it. 
Only 

the 
full 

primary 
evi- 

dence, 
once 

it 
emerges 

into 
the 

light 
of 

day, 
will 

provide 
a 

systematic 
map 

for 
the 

road 
back 

from 
Dallas. 

W
h
e
n
 

that 
happens, 

the 
United 

States 
can 

again 
realize 

the 
meaning 

in 
its 

motto 
on 

the 
reverse 

side 
of 

its 
Great 

Seal: 

A
n
n
u
i
t
 
Coeptis.'*° 
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Times 

[4102]. 
Another 

example 
of 

the 
n
u
m
e
r
o
u
s
 

errors 
is 

found 
in 

footnote 
19, 

page 
14. 

The 
footnote 

reads: 
‘‘See 

index 
to 

Basic 
Source 

Materials 
in 

possession 
of 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
,
 

National 
Archives.’’ 

This 
is 

false. 
The 

greatest 
single 

impediment 
to 

JFK 
research 

in 
the 

National 
Archives 

is 
the 

total 
lack 

of 
any 

index. 
The 

cited 
material 

actually 
appears 

in 
facsimile 

reproduction 
in 

[532], 
p. 

39, 
which 

obyiates 
the 

use 
of 

a 

finding 
note. 
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75. 
See 

{23] 
and 

the 
folders 

on 
the 

film 
contained 

there. 

16. 
See 

[2607]. 
77. 

See 
[1899]. 

Interviews 
with 

Bernard 
Fensterwald, 

Jim 
Garrison 

and 
Harold 

Weisberg. 

Weisberg 
was 

in 
Garrison's 

office 
the 

day 
L
a
m
a
r
r
e
 

first 
called 

on 
the 

district 
attorney. 

78. 
The 

N
e
w
 

York 
Post, 

8 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
 

1977. 

79. 
See 

(421). 
80. 

Sep 
[2]. 

81. 
A 

basic 
article 

is: 
Bob 

Katz, 
‘
M
a
r
k
 

Lane: 
The 

Left's 
Leading 

Hearse-Chaser,’’ 
M
o
t
h
e
r
 

J
o
n
e
s
 4 
(August 

1979): 
22-32. 

82. 
See 

[2172]; 
several 

critics 
have 

received 
copies 

of 
untitled 

typescripts 
and 

letters 
that 

appear 
to 

have 
intelligence 

origins; 
see 

[1776), 
interviews 

with 
critics, 

including 
one 

who 
viewed 

the 
film 

version 
and 

spoke 
with 

the 
person 

called 
Lamarre 

at 
S
D
E
C
E
 

offices 
in 

Paris, 
conducted 

by 
David 

R. 
Wrone. 

83. 
See 

(1797, 
1895]. 

84. 
See 

[S27]. 

85. 
See 

[383]. 
86. 

See 
(728, 

729]. 

87. 
See 

(972). 

88. 
See 

(697). 
89. 

See 
(722). 

90. 
See 

[735]. 

91. 
See 

(532, 
1075, 

736, 
1901, 

973]. 

92. 
See 

[389]. 

93. 
See 

{110}. 

94. 
See 

[80]; 
Assistant 

Public 
Printer, 

C. 
A. 

LaBarre, 
in 

letter 
of 

23 
October 

1979, 
to 

David 
R. 

W
r
o
n
e
,
 

states 
12,333 

copies 
were 

printed; 
of 

[79], 
JFK 

appendix 
volumes, 

the 
follow- 

ing 
n
u
m
b
e
r
s
 

were 
printed: 

1:5099; 
2:5380; 

3:5299; 
4:5349; 

5:5808; 
6:5513; 

7:5411; 
8:5439; 

9:5210; 
10:5692; 

11:5340; 
12:5262. 

95. 
The 

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
 

Post, 
19 

July 
1979. 

96. 
See 

(70, 
71] 

and 
the 

interview 
with 

C
o
n
g
r
e
s
s
m
a
n
 

Richardson 
Preyer, 

chairman 
of 

the 

s
u
b
c
o
m
m
i
t
t
e
e
 

on 
the 

assassination 
of 

John 
F. 

Kennedy, 
appearing 

in 
The 

N
e
w
 

York 
Times 

[5062]. 
97. 

In 
Penn 

Jones, 
Jr., 

The 
Continuing 

Inquiry 
[308], 

22 
August 

1977, 
M
a
c
k
 
s
u
m
m
a
r
i
z
e
d
 

his 
study 

of 
Ferrell's 

original 
discovery. 

The 
H
S
C
A
 

hired 
the 

prestigious 
scientific 

testing 
film 

of 
Bolt, 

Beranek 
& 

N
e
w
m
a
n
 

to 
analyze 

the 
audio 

tape. 
This 

firm 
reported 

that 
their 

study 
of 

the 
tape 

proved 
inconclusive. 

In 
March 

1978 
the 

original, 
badly 

worn 
dictabelt 

plus 
a 

good 

copy 
of 

it 
surfaced 

in 
Dallas. 

The 
H
S
C
A
 

decided 
to 

restrict 
the 

location 
and 

n
u
m
b
e
r
 

of 
tests 

performed 
in 

Dealey 
Plaza 

to 
the 

north 
grassy 

knoll 
and 

the 
Texas 

School 
Book 

Depository. 

On 
11 

September, 
Bolt, 

Beranek 
& 

N
e
w
m
a
n
 

reported 
a 

fifty-fifty 
chance 

of 
a 

grassy 
knoll 

gunshot. 
On 

28 
December, 

Mark 
Weiss 

and 
Ernest 

Aschkenasy, 
acoustical 

experts 
using 

more 
refined 

techniques, 
appeared 

before 
the 

H
S
C
A
 

and 
demonstrated 

a 
95 

percent 
probability 

for 
the 

north 
grassy 

knoll 
gunshot. 

But 
they 

had 
not 

been 
permitted 

to 
perform 

their 
tests 

at 
locations 

on 
Dealey 

Plaza 
other 

than 
with 

respect 
to 

the 
north 

grassy 
knoll. 

A 
majority 

of 

the 
H
S
C
A
 
accepted 

their 
findings 

and 
ignored 

the 
implications 

of 
the 

unfinished 
task. 

98. 
Interview 

with 
Robert 

Groden, 
by 

David 
R. 

Wrone. 

99. 
See 

CE 
1974, 

23 
H 

832-940, 
with 

no 
reference 

to 
other 

versions. 

100. 
There 

were 
three 

different 
versions 

of 
the 

tapes 
introduced 

into 
evidence: 

CE 
1974, 

23 
H 

832-940; 
Sawyer 

Exhibits 
A 

and 
B, 

21 
H 

388-400; 
CE 

705, 
17 

H 
361-494. 

101. 
See 

[80], 
p. 

329. 

102. 
See 

[80], 
p. 

32. 

103. 
J. 

J. 
H
u
m
e
s
,
 
C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E
,
 

24 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963, 
to 

Captain 
J. 

H. 
Stover, 

W
C
 

Records 
NA, 

r
e
p
r
o
d
u
c
e
s
 in 

[973], 
p. 

525; 
17 

H 
47. 
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104. 
Admiral 

Galloway, 
C
o
m
m
a
n
d
i
n
g
 

Officer, 
National 

Naval 
Medical 

Center, 
to 

George 

. 
Burkley, 

White 
House 

Physician, 
M
e
m
o
r
a
n
d
u
m
 

25 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963, 
W
C
 

Records 
NA, 

p
r
o
d
u
c
e
d
 

in 
[973], 

p. 
526. 

105. 
Receipt, 

Robert 
I. 

Bouck, 
Secret 

Service, 
26 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963, 
W
C
 

Records 
NA, 

repro- 

uced 
in 

[973], 
p. 

527. 
* 

106. 
2H. 

373; 
confirmed 

by 
J. 

J. 
H
u
m
e
s
,
 
C
E
R
T
I
F
I
C
A
T
E
,
 

24 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963, 
17 

H 
48, 

and 

1 
W
C
 

Records 
NA, 

holograph 
approval 

on 
certificate 

by 
Admiral 

George 
Burkley, 

Physician 

) 
the 

President, 
reproduced 

in 
[973], 

p. 
524. 

Five 
versions 

of 
the 

autopsy 
existed: 

the 
burned 

riginal; 
the 

holograph 
second 

with 
“
“
G
G
B
”
 

initials 
on 

the 
margin 

in 
two 

places 
is 

in 
W
C
 

‘ecords 
N
A
 

and 
reproduced 

in 
[973]; 

pp. 
509-23; 

the 
holograph 

copy 
sans 

initials 
is 

in 
W
C
 

olumes 
as 

CE 
397, 

17 
H 

30-44; 
the 

holographic 
alterations 

of 
the 

second 
draft, 

C
E
 

397; 
and 

1e 
final 

printed 
copy 

which 
differs 

slightly, 
C
E
 

387, 
16H 

979-983. 

107. 
See 

[80], 
p. 

41. 

108. 
See 

[80], 
pp. 

34-38. 

109. 
See 

[79], 
vol. 

7. 

110. 
See 

[110], 
p. 

212. 

111. 
See 

[973], 
p. 

555. 

112. 
**Kelley’’ 

file, 
Weisberg 

Archives. 

113. 
See 

(447). 

114. 
'‘Whalen”’ 

file, 
Weisberg 

Archives. 

115. 
See 

[79], 
p. 

89. 

116. 
See 

[973], 
p. 

353. 

117. 
6
H
 

136, 
139, 

21 
H 

203-204; 
interview 

of 
Weisberg 

with 
Carrico, 

[973], 
pp. 

358, 
375-76. 

118. 
3 

H 
361-362. 

119. 
See (80}, 

p. 
49. 

120. 
See 

[735], 
pp. 

73, 
79-84; 

[532], 
pp. 

38-39. 

121. 
See 

[389], 
pp. 

151-174. 

122. 
See 

(389], 
p. 

171; 
CE 

738; 
W
a
r
r
e
n
 
Report, 

p. 
137. 

123. 
6 

H 
376-377. 

124. 
See 

[389], 
p. 

173. 

125. 
See 

[735], 
p. 

62. 

126. 
See 

[801], 
p. 

87. 

127. 
See 

[735], 
pp. 

97-109. 

28. 
See 

[80], 
p. 

71. 

129. 
See 

[165, 
168). 

. 
‘ 

130. 
The 

W
C
 

paid 
no 

attention 
to 

the 
curbstone 

until 
7 

July 
1964; 

testimony 
and 

depositions 

from 
eyewitnesses 

and 
Tague 

appear 
in 

the 
26 

volumes, 
e.g., 

21 
H 

474, 
17 

H 
547, 

and 
15 

H 
699, 

and 
in 

its 
Report, 

p. 
116. 

The 
staff 

and 
the 

FBI 
took 

extreme 
care 

to 
obfuscate 

the 
Report- 

destroying 
implications 

of 
the 

evidence. 
The 

FBI 
did 

not 
mention 

the 
Tague 

shot 
in 

its 
five- 

volume 
report 

to 
the 

c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

on 
9 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963, 
C
D
 

I 
(91). 

131. 
One 

of 
the 

pictures, 
snapped 

by 
professional 

journalist 
T
o
m
 

Dillard 
on 

22 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963 
appears 

in 
Shaneyfelt 

Exhibit 
29, 

21 
H 

479; 
the 

patched 
curb 

is 
in 

the 
N
A
 

available 
for 

public 
viewing. 

132. 
See 

[168]. 
; 

133. 
See 

the 
discussion 

in 
[389], 

pp. 
184-87. 

As 
R
o
f
f
m
a
n
 

notes, 
p. 

276, 
even,the 

FBI 
modi- 

fication 
removes 

Oswald 
from 

the 
scene 

of 
the 

crime 
and 

d
e
m
o
l
i
s
h
e
s
:
 

(hé’ 
official 

findings. 

“The 
Warren 

C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

stated 
in 

its 
Report 

that 
it 

knew-of 
no 

Book 
Depository 

employee 

who 
claimed 

to 
have 

seen 
O
s
w
a
l
d
 

between 
11:55 

and 
12:30 

on 
the 

day 
of 

the 
assassination. 

This 
was 

false, 
as 

. 
. 

. 
the 

FBI 
report 

{on 
Mrs. 

Arnold] 
from 

the 
commission's 

files 
reveals. 

The 
[Warren] 

Report 
never 

mentions 
Mrs. 

Arnold. 
. 

. 
a 

134. 
Earl 

Golz, 
Dallas 

M
o
r
n
i
n
g
 
News, 

26 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1978. 

135. 
Ibid., 

DFO 
89-43-493. 
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136. 
According 

to 
Secret 

Service 
Agent 

A. 
E. 

Gerrets, 
22 

H 
828. 

137. 
See 

the 
photograph 

of 
the 

now 
demolished 

building 
in 

[1893] 
and 

the 
discussions 

of 
the 

organizations 
frequenting 

it 
in 

[1901]; 
see 

m
a
p
 

4. 

138. 
See 

[1901] 
for 

discussion, 
particularly 

at 
pp. 

327-48. 
Haynes 

Johnson 
of 

The 
Washington 

Star, 
a 

Pulitzer 
Prize-winning 

reporter 
with 

m
a
n
y
 
informants 

a
m
o
n
g
 

the 
C
u
b
a
n
 

leaders, 
is 

the 

source 
for 

the 
Banister 

intimacy 
with 

the 
anti-Castro 

associate, 
Ferrie; 

see 
[1901], 

pp. 
329-30. 

139. 
See 

[1901], 
especially 

pp. 
329, 

351; 
Haynes 

Johnson, 
The 

W
a
s
h
i
n
g
t
o
n
 

Star, 
26 

Febru- 

ary 
1967, 

front 
page. 

140. 
An 

illustration of 
the 

deception 
practiced 

by 
the 

FBI 
is 

found 
in 

W
C
 

file 
75, 

folio 
683, 

where 
FBI 

Agent 
Ernest 

C. 
Wall, 

Jr., 
reported 

on 
25 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

1963: 

G
U
Y
 
B
A
N
I
S
T
E
R
,
 
Guy 

Banister 
Associates, 

Inc., 
531 

Lafayette 
Street, 

N
e
w
 
Orleans, 

was 

telephonically 
contacted 

on 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r
 

25, 
1963, 

and 
advised 

that 
S
E
R
G
I
O
 
A
R
C
A
C
H
A
 

S
M
I
T
H
 

of 
the 

C
u
b
a
n
 

Revolutionary 
Council, 

who 
was 

the 
head 

of 
that 

organization 
in 

N
e
w
 

Orleans, 
Louisiana, 

some 
time 

ago, 
had 

told 
him 

on 
one 

occasion 
that 

he, 
S
M
I
T
H
,
 

had 
an 

office 
in 

the 
building 

located 
at 

544 
C
a
m
p
 

Street. 
Mr. 

B
A
N
I
S
T
E
R
 

stated 
that 

he 

had 
seen 

a 
young 

C
u
b
a
n
 

man 
with 

S
M
I
T
H
 

on 
a 
n
u
m
b
e
r
 

of 
occasions 

in 
the 

vicinity 
of 

544 
C
a
m
p
 

Street, 
but 

could 
not 

recall 
the 

n
a
m
e
 

of 
this 

young 
man. 

See 
[1901], 

p. 
331. 

141. 
The 

book 
is 

found 
in 

16 
H 

67; 
the 

addresses 
are 

partially 
discussed 

in 
[1901], 

p. 
79; 

see 

m
a
p
 

of 
N
e
w
 
Orleans; 

research 
in 

N
e
w
 
Orlcans 

by 
David 

R. 
Wrone. 

142. 
Based 

on 
files 

assembled 
by 

Weisterg 
as 

well 
as 

his 
affidavits 

submitted 
in 

F
O
I
A
 

Civil 

Action 
No. 

78-420 
[181]. 

143. 
Tourists 

who 
filmed 

the 
Canal 

Street 
operation 

informed 
Harold 

Weisberg 
of 

this, 
as 

did 
persons 

associated 
with 

the 
filming 

of 
the 

Trade 
Mart 

operation. 
Their 

interviews, 
¢.g., 

Patrick 
Doyle’s, 

are 
in 

his 
files. 

His 
research 

was 
utilized 

in 
his 

affidavits 
in 

Civil 
Action 

No. 
78-420 

[181]. 
These 

references, 
plus 

the 
film 

itself, 
plus 

the 
viewing 

of 
the 

film 
by 

journalist 

Earl 
Golz, 

demonstrate 
a 
change 

was 
made. 

For 
example, 

the 
Doyle 

film 
was 

returned 
with 

m
a
n
y
 

frames 
missing 

and 
on a 

different 
commercial 

film 
base 

than 
used 

by 
Doyle; 

the 
edges 

of 
the 

film 
depicting 

the 
associate 

which 
appeared 

originally 
as 

clear 
and 

distinct 
are 

now 

blurred, 
and 

so 
forth. 

See 
[181]. 

144, 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t
 

released 
to 

Weisberg 
as 

a 
result 

of 
his 

Privacy 
Act 

request. 
The 

FBI 
process- 

ing 
blurred 

the 
finding 

number, 
but 

the 
serial 

n
u
m
b
e
r
 

is 
N
O
 

100 
16601 

and 
the 

report 
is 

dated 

10/19/70. 

145. 
See 

(79], 
vol. 

3, 
p. 

663. 

146. 
C
I
A
 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t
 

No. 
657-831. 

See 
[2]. 

R
e
p
r
o
d
u
c
e
d
 

with 
discussion 

in 
[1075], 

pp. 
304-10, 

312. 147. 
See 

{1075}, 
pp. 

295-304, 
where 

the 
few 

pages 
of 

the 
study 

released 
are 

reproduced. 
The 

W
a
r
r
e
n
 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

clearly 
knew 

of 
the 

National 
Photographic 

Interpretation 
Center 

and 
its 

reputation 
for 

excellence, 
but 

the 
commission 

did 
not 

seek 
their 

aid. 
Had 

it 
done 

so, 
and 

if the 

CIA's 
c
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
e
d
 

project 
can 

be 
trusted, 

then 
the 

single-assassin 
theory 

would 
have 

suf- 

fered 
serious 

damage. 

148. 
It 

never 
appeared 

in 
the 

report 
submitted 

by 
the 

Rockefeller 
C
o
m
m
i
s
s
i
o
n
 

[101] 
but 

was 

the 
subject 

of 
a 

staff 
inquiry: 

see 
[1075], 

p. 
295. 

149. 
He 

has 
favored 

our 
undertakings: 

from 
Virgil, 

Aeneid, 
9. 

625.


